TOWERSTREAM CORP

FORM 10-K (Annual Report)

Filed 03/18/09 for the Period Ending 12/31/08

Address 55 HAMMARLUND WAY

MIDDLETOWN, RI 02842

Telephone (401) 848-5848

CIK 0001349437

Symbol TWER

SIC Code 4899 - Communications Services, Not Elsewhere Classified

Industry Communications Services

Sector Services

Fiscal Year 12/31

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)					
⊠ ANNUA	AL REPORT PUR		OR 15(d) OF THE SECU al year ended December OR	URITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934: 31, 2008	
□ TRANS	ITION REPORT			SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 19 _to	34
		Commi	ssion file number 001-3	33449	
			RSTREAM CORPORA' registrant as specified i		
	Del	aware		20-8259086	
(State or o		incorporation or organization	on)	(I.R.S. Employer Identification N	No.)
(Middletown	arlund Way , Rhode Island pal executive offices)		02842 (Zip Code)	
		Registrant's telephone	number, including area	code (401) 848-5848	
		Securities register	ed pursuant to Section 1	2(b) of the Act:	
Co	Title of eommon Stock, par	ach class value \$0.001 per share		Name of each exchange on which re The NASDAQ Capital Marke	
		Securities registered	pursuant to Section 12(g	g) of the Act: None	
Indicate by check	mark if the regist	rant is a well-known season	ed issuer, as defined in I	Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes □	No ⊠
Indicate by check	mark if the regist	rant is not required to file re	ports pursuant to Sectio	n 13 or 15(d) of the Act. Yes □ No 区	I
during the preced	ling 12 months (or			ed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchang red to file such reports), and (2) has been	
and will not be co	ontained, to the be			ation S-K (§ 229.405 of this chapter) is n information statements incorporated by re	
				I filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of	
•	elerated filer lerated filer	(Do not check if a smaller	reporting company)	Accelerated filer □ Smaller reporting company	y 🗵
Indicate by check	mark whether the	e registrant is a shell compan	y (as defined in Rule 12	2b-2 of the Act). Yes □ No 区	
				affiliates computed by reference to the procompleted second fiscal quarter was \$3.	
As of March 13.	2009, there were 3	34.587.854 shares of Commo	on Stock, par value \$0.0	01 per share, outstanding.	

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Report.

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION AND SUBISIDIARIES

Table of Contents

		Page
	PART I	
Item 1.	Business.	1
Item 1A.	Risk Factors.	6
Item 1B.	Unresolved Staff Comments.	16
Item 2.	Properties.	16
Item 3.	Legal Proceedings.	16
Item 4.	Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.	16
	PART II	
Item 5.	Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.	17
Item 6.	Selected Financial Data.	18
Item 7.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.	18
Item 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.	23
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.	24
Item 9.	Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.	46
Item 9A(T).	Controls and Procedures.	46
Item 9B.	Other Information.	47
	PART III	
Item 10.	Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.	48
Item 11.	Executive Compensation.	48
Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.	48
Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.	48
Item 14.	Principal Accountant Fees and Services.	48
	PART IV	
Item 15.	Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.	49

PART I

Forward-Looking Statements

Forward-looking statements in this report, including without limitation, statements related to Towerstream Corporation's plans, strategies, objectives, expectations, intentions and adequacy of resources, are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Investors are cautioned that such forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties including without limitation the following: (i) Towerstream Corporation's plans, strategies, objectives, expectations and intentions are subject to change at any time at the discretion of Towerstream Corporation; (ii) Towerstream Corporation's plans and results of operations will be affected by Towerstream Corporation's ability to manage growth; and (iii) other risks and uncertainties indicated from time to time in Towerstream Corporation's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as "may," "will," "should," "could," "expects," "plans," "intends," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "predicts," "potential," or "continue" or the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements. Moreover, neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of such statements. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. We are under no duty to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this report.

Factors that might affect our forward-looking statements include, among other things:

- overall economic and business conditions;
- the demand for our goods and services;
- competitive factors in the industries in which we compete;
- changes in tax requirements (including tax rate changes, new tax laws and revised tax law interpretations);
- the outcome of litigation and governmental proceedings;
- interest rate fluctuations and other changes in borrowing costs;
- other capital market conditions, including availability of funding sources;
- potential further impairment of our indefinite-lived intangible assets and/or our long-lived assets; and
- changes in government regulations related to the broadband and Internet protocol industries.

Item 1. Business.

Towerstream Corporation ("Towerstream", "we", "us", "our" or the "Company") provides fixed wireless broadband services to commercial customers based on a monthly recurring revenue model. We provide customers high speed Internet access over a fixed wireless network transmitting over both regulated and unregulated radio spectrum. Our service supports bandwidth on demand, wireless redundancy, virtual private networks ("VPNs"), disaster recovery, bundled data and video services. We provide service to approximately 1,400 business customers in New York City, Boston, Chicago, Los Angeles, San Francisco, Seattle, Miami, Dallas-Fort Worth, Providence and Newport, Rhode Island.

We tailor our service offerings to satisfy customer needs based principally upon size. We offer customers bandwidth connections ranging from 0.5 megabits per second up to 1 gigabit per second. As companies grow, they can increase their bandwidth at any time in a variety of bits per second increments, usually without additional installation or equipment charges. Furthermore, regardless of business size and connection package, we guarantee uptime, latency and throughput by offering customers technical credits against their bill for periods of down time.

The Company maintains a website at http://www.towerstream.com. Information contained on the Company's website is not incorporated into this annual report on Form 10-K. Annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports are available free of charge through the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") Web site at http://idea.sec.gov as soon as reasonably practicable after those reports are electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC.

Our Networks

We establish proprietary wireless networks in each of the markets we serve by installing antennae on towers, building rooftops or other structures to send and receive wireless signals. We connect the customer to our Wireless Ring in the Sky, which has no single point of failure. This ring is fed by multiple lead Internet providers located at opposite ends of our service cities. We believe that we are the only wireless broadband provider that offers true separate egress for true redundancy. For new markets we enter, after installing our wireless base stations and establishing our wireless ring, we generally can activate new customers within two to seven business days of receiving an order. Our coverage area can be accessed by customers within approximately 10 miles of our installed base stations, depending upon location and line of sight access.

Market Coverage

We intend to grow our business by deploying our service more broadly and seeking to rapidly increase our customer base. We intend to deploy our wireless broadband network broadly both in terms of geography and categories of commercial and business customers. We intend to increase the number of geographic markets we serve, taking advantage of a staged roll-out model to deploy our services throughout major additional United States markets. We also plan to service a wide range of commercial customers, from small businesses to large enterprises.

We determine which geographic markets to enter by assessing a number of criteria in four broad categories. First, we evaluate our ability to deploy our service in a given market, taking into consideration our spectrum position, the availability of towers and zoning constraints. Second, we assess the market by evaluating the number of competitors, existing price points, demographic characteristics and distribution channels. Third, we evaluate the economic potential of the market, focusing on our forecasts of revenue growth opportunities and capital requirements. Finally, we look at market clustering opportunities and other cost efficiencies that might be realized. Based on this approach, as of December 31, 2008, we offered wireless broadband connectivity in nine markets covering over 50% of small and medium business (5 to 249 employees) in the top 20 metropolitan statistical areas.

We believe there are significant market opportunities beyond the nine markets in which we are currently offering our services. Our long term plan is to expand nationally into other top metropolitan markets in the United States. However, given the difficult economic environment existing at the end of 2008, we have determined that for the foreseeable future, we intend to focus our resources on strengthening our market coverage in our existing markets rather than expanding into new markets. We believe there are significant opportunities in our existing markets. We plan to continue to monitor the broader economic environment, and based on future changes, as well as our future operating performance, will determine the appropriate time to enter new markets.

Sales and Marketing

We hire salespeople to sell our services directly to business customers. As of December 31, 2008, we employed 97 direct salespeople. We generally compensate these employees on a salary plus commission basis.

Our indirect sales channels include a variety of authorized representatives, such as integrators, resellers, and online operators. Authorized representatives assist in developing awareness of and demand for our service by promoting our services and brand as part of their own advertising and direct marketing campaigns.

Competition

The market for broadband services is highly competitive, and includes companies that offer a variety of services using a number of distinctly different technological platforms, such as cable networks, digital subscriber lines ("DSL"), third-generation cellular, satellite, wireless Internet service and other emerging technologies. We compete with these companies on the basis of the portability, ease of use, speed and price of our respective services. Competitors to our wireless broadband services include:

Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers and Common Local Exchange Carriers

We face competition from traditional wireline operators in terms of price, performance, discounted rates for bundles of services, breadth of service, reliability, network security, and ease of access and use. In particular, we face competition from traditional wireline companies like Verizon Communications Inc., Qwest Corporation and AT&T Inc., all of which are referred to as "incumbent local exchange carriers," or ("ILECS"), as well as Covad Communications Group, Inc., Speakeasy, Inc., MegaPath Networks Inc., and One Communications Corporation, all of which are referred to as "common local exchange carriers," or ("CLECS").

Cable Modem and DSL Services

We compete with companies that provide Internet connectivity through cable modems or DSL. Principal competitors include cable companies, such as Comcast Corporation, and incumbent telephone companies, such as AT&T Inc. or Verizon Communications Inc. Both the cable and telephone companies deploy their services over wired networks initially designed for voice and one-way data transmission that have subsequently been upgraded to provide for additional services.

Cellular and PCS Services

Cellular and personal communications service ("PCS") carriers are seeking to expand their capacity to provide data and voice services that are superior to ours. These providers have substantially broader geographic coverage than we have and, for the foreseeable future, than we expect to have. If one or more of these providers can deploy technologies that compete effectively with our services, the mobility and coverage offered by these carriers will provide even greater competition than we currently face. Moreover, more advanced cellular and PCS technologies, such as third generation mobile technologies, currently offer broadband service with packet data transfer speeds of up to 2,000,000 bits per second for fixed applications, and slower speeds for mobile applications. We expect that third generation technology will be improved to increase connectivity speeds to make it more suitable for a range of advanced applications.

Wireless Broadband Service Providers

We also face competition from other wireless broadband service providers that use licensed and unlicensed spectrum. In addition to these commercial operators, many local governments, universities and other governmental or quasi-governmental entities are providing or subsidizing "WiFi" networks over unlicensed spectrum, in some cases at no cost to the user. There exist numerous small local urban and rural wireless operations offering local services that could compete with us in certain of our present or planned geographic markets. In addition, in 2008, Sprint, Google, Comcast, Time Warner, Intel and Brighthouse provided Clearwire with over \$3 billion in new capital to build out a nationwide WiMAX network for consumers.

Satellite

Satellite providers, such as WildBlue Communications, Inc. and Hughes Network Systems, LLC, offer broadband data services that address a niche market, mainly less densely populated areas that are unserved or underserved by competing service providers. Although satellite offers service to a large geographic area, latency caused by the time it takes for the signal to travel to and from the satellite may challenge a satellite provider's ability to provide some services, such as Voice over Internet Protocol ("VoIP"), which reduces the size of the addressable market.

Other

We believe other emerging technologies may also seek to enter the broadband services market. For example, we are aware that several power generation and distribution companies are seeking to develop or have already offered commercial broadband Internet services over existing electric power lines.

Competitive Strengths

Even though we face substantial existing and prospective competition, we believe that we have a number of competitive advantages that will allow us to retain existing customers and attract new customers over time.

Reliability

As compared to cellular, cable and DSL networks that generally rely on infrastructure originally designed for non-broadband purposes, our network was designed specifically to support wireless broadband services. We also connect the customer to our Wireless Ring in the Sky, which has no single point of failure. This ring is fed by multiple lead Internet providers located at opposite ends of our service cities and connected to our national ring which is fed by multiple leading carriers. We believe that we are the only wireless broadband provider that offers true separate egress for true redundancy. With DSL and cable offerings, all wires are rendered dead by one backhoe swipe or switch failure. Our Wireless Ring in the Sky is backhoe-proof and weather-proof. As a result of these factors, our network has historically experienced reliability rates of approximately 99%.

Value

We own our entire network, which enables us to price our services lower than most of our competitors. Specifically, we are able to offer competitive prices because we do not have to buy a local loop charge from the telephone company.

Efficient Economic Model

Our economic model is characterized by low fixed capital and operating expenditures relative to other wireless and wireline broadband service providers. We own our entire network, thereby dispensing with the costs involved in using lines owned by telephone or cable companies. Our system is expandable and covers an area up to several miles away from each tower which will enable us to realize incremental savings in our build-out costs as our customer base grows.

Experienced Management Team

We have an experienced executive management team with more than 80 years combined experience as company leaders. Our President and Chief Executive Officer, Jeffrey M. Thompson, is a founder of the Company and has more than 20 years experience in the data communications industry. Our Chief Financial Officer, Joseph P. Hernon, has been the chief financial officer for three publicly traded companies. Our Chief Revenue Officer, Mel Yarbrough, has more than 20 years experience leading internal sales organizations. Our Chief Operations Officer, Bruce E. Grinnell, has more than 20 years of experience improving operational processes.

Corporate History

We were organized in the State of Nevada in June 2005, and subsequently became a public shell company, as defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission. In January 2007, we merged with and into a wholly-owned Delaware subsidiary, for the sole purpose of changing our state of incorporation to Delaware. In January 2007, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ours merged with and into a private company, Towerstream Corporation, with Towerstream Corporation being the surviving company. Upon closing of the merger, we discontinued our former business and succeeded to the business of Towerstream Corporation as our sole line of business. At the same time, we also changed our name to Towerstream Corporation and, our subsidiary, Towerstream Corporation, changed its name to Towerstream I, Inc.

Regulatory Matters

Wireless broadband services are subject to regulation by the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC"). At the federal level, the FCC has jurisdiction over wireless transmissions over the electromagnetic spectrum and all interstate telecommunications services. State regulatory commissions have jurisdiction over intrastate communications. Municipalities may regulate limited aspects of our business by, for example, imposing zoning requirements and requiring installation permits.

Telecommunications Regulation

Our wireless broadband systems can be used to provide Internet access service and VPNs. In a March 2007 decision, the FCC classified wireless broadband Internet access service as an interstate information service that is regulated under Title I of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended. Accordingly, most regulations that apply to telephone companies and other common carriers do not apply to our wireless broadband Internet access service. For example, we are not currently required to contribute a percentage of gross revenues from our Internet access services to universal service funds used to support local telephone service and advanced telecommunications services for schools, libraries and rural health care facilities ("USF Fees").

We are not required to file tariffs with the FCC, setting forth the rates, terms, and conditions of our Internet access service. The FCC, however, is currently considering whether to impose various consumer protection obligations, similar to Title II obligations, on wireless broadband Internet access providers. These requirements may include obligations related to truth-in-billing, slamming, discontinuing service, customer proprietary network information and federal universal service funds mechanisms. Internet access providers are currently subject to applicable state consumer protection laws enforced by each state's Attorney General and general Federal Trade Commission consumer protection rules.

On August 5, 2005, the FCC adopted an Order finding that facilities-based broadband Internet access providers are subject to the Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act ("CALEA"), which requires service providers covered by that statute to build certain law enforcement surveillance assistance capabilities into their communications networks. The FCC required facilities-based broadband Internet access providers to comply with CALEA requirements by May 14, 2007. We have complied with such CALEA requirements.

On May 3, 2006, the FCC adopted an additional Order addressing CALEA compliance obligations of these providers. In that order, the FCC: (i) affirmed the May 14, 2007 compliance deadline; (ii) indicated compliance standards are to be developed by the industry within the telecommunications standards-setting bodies working together with law enforcement; (iii) permitted the use of certain third parties to satisfy CALEA compliance obligations; (iv) restricted the availability of compliance extensions; (v) concluded that facilities-based broadband Internet access providers are responsible for any CALEA development and implementation costs; (vi) declared that the FCC may pursue enforcement action, in addition to remedies available through the courts, against any non-compliant provider; and (vii) adopted interim progress report filing requirements.

Broadband Internet-related and Internet protocol-services regulatory policies are continuing to develop, and it is possible that our broadband Internet access could be subject to additional regulations in the future. The extent of the regulations that will ultimately be applicable to these services and the impact of such regulations on the ability of providers to compete are currently unknown.

Spectrum Regulation

The FCC routinely reviews its spectrum policies and may change its position on spectrum allocations from time to time. We believe that the FCC is committed to allocating spectrum to support wireless broadband deployment throughout the United States and will continue to modify its regulations to foster such deployment, which will help us implement our existing and future business plans.

Internet Taxation

The Internet Tax Freedom Act, which was signed into law in October 2007, extended a moratorium on taxes on Internet access and multiple, discriminatory taxes on electric commerce. This moratorium had previously expired in November 2007, and as with the preceding Internet Tax Freedom Act, "grandfathered" states that taxed Internet access prior to October 1998 to allow them to continue to do so. Certain states have enacted various taxes on Internet access or electronic commerce, and selected states taxes are being contested on a variety of bases. However, state tax laws may not be successfully contested, and future state and federal laws imposing taxes or other regulations on Internet access and electronic commerce may arise, any of which could increase the cost of providing Internet services, which could, in turn, materially adversely affect our business.

Employees

As of December 31, 2008, we had 170 employees, all of whom are full-time employees. As of February 28, 2009, we had 168 employees, of whom 166 are full-time employees and 2 are part-time employees. We believe our employee relations are good. Of such employees, four are considered members of executive management.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Prospective investors should carefully consider the risks described below and other information contained in this annual report, including our financial statements and related notes before purchasing shares of our common stock. There are numerous and varied risks, known and unknown, that may prevent us from achieving our goals. If any of these risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition or results of operations may be materially adversely affected. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline and investors in our common stock could lose all or part of their investment.

Risks Relating to Our Business

We may be unable to successfully execute any of our identified business opportunities or other business opportunities that we determine to pursue.

In order to pursue business opportunities, we will need to continue to build our infrastructure and operational capabilities. Our ability to do any of these successfully could be affected by any one or more of the following factors:

- the ability of our equipment, our equipment suppliers or our service providers to perform as we expect;
- the ability of our services to achieve market acceptance;
- our ability to execute our business strategy, which could be affected by our limited experience in providing fixed, high-speed wireless broadband services;
- our ability to manage our third party relationships effectively;
- our ability to negotiate acceptable agreements to secure suitable locations for our equipment, such as desirable rooftop antenna lease locations;
- our ability to manage the expansion of our operations and any acquisitions we may make, which could result in increased costs, high employee turnover or damage to customer relationships;
- our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel, which may be affected by the significant competition in our industry for persons experienced in network operations and engineering;
- equipment failure or interruption of service, which could adversely affect our reputation and our relations with our customers;
- our ability to accurately predict and respond to the rapid technological changes in our industry and the evolving demands of the markets we serve; and
- our ability to raise substantial additional capital to fund our growth.

Our failure to adequately address any one or more of the above factors could have a significant impact on our ability to implement our business plan and our ability to pursue other opportunities that arise, which might negatively affect our business.

We depend on the continued availability of leases or licenses for our communications equipment.

We have constructed proprietary networks in each of the markets we serve by installing antennae on rooftops, cellular towers and other structures pursuant to lease or license agreements to send and receive wireless signals necessary for our network. We typically seek five year initial terms for our leases with three to five year renewal options. Such renewal options are generally exercisable at our discretion before the expiration of the current term. If these leases are terminated or if the owners of these structures are unwilling to continue to enter into leases or licenses with us in the future, we would be forced to seek alternative arrangements with other providers. If we are unable to continue to obtain or renew such leases on satisfactory terms, our business would be harmed.

Our business depends on a strong brand, and if we do not maintain and enhance our brand, our ability to attract and retain customers may be impaired and our business and operating results may be harmed.

We believe that our brand is a critical part of our business. Maintaining and enhancing our brand may require us to make substantial investments with no assurance that these investments will be successful. If we fail to promote and maintain the "Towerstream" brand, or if we incur significant expenses in this effort, our business, prospects, operating results and financial condition may be harmed. We anticipate that maintaining and enhancing our brand will become increasingly important, difficult and expensive.

We may pursue acquisitions that we believe complement our existing operations but which involve risks that could adversely affect our business.

Acquisitions involve risks that could adversely affect our business, including the diversion of management time from operations, and difficulties integrating the operations and personnel of acquired companies. In addition, any future acquisitions could result in significant costs, the incurrence of additional debt or the issuance of equity securities to fund the acquisition, and the assumption of contingent or undisclosed liabilities, all of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In connection with any future acquisition, we generally will seek to minimize the impact of contingent and undisclosed liabilities by obtaining indemnities and warranties from the seller. However, these indemnities and warranties, if obtained, may not fully cover the liabilities due to their limited scope, amount or duration, the financial limitations of the indemnitor or warrantor, or for other reasons.

We have a history of operating losses and expect to continue incurring losses for the foreseeable future.

Our current business was launched in 1999 and has incurred losses in each year of operation. Prior to our merger in January 2007, Towerstream operated as an S corporation. The accumulated deficit of the S corporation as of December 31, 2006 was \$8,213,002. Concurrently with our merger, we elected to operate as a C corporation, and reported a net loss of \$8,501,725 in 2007. As of December 31, 2007, our accumulated deficit was \$8,501,725, which included a recapitalization adjustment to eliminate the S corporation deficit. In 2008, we recorded a net loss of \$13,377,419. We cannot anticipate when, if ever, our operations will become profitable. We expect to incur significant net losses as we expand our sales force, develop our network, expand our markets, undertake acquisitions, acquire spectrum and pursue our business strategy. We intend to invest significantly in our business before we expect cash flow from operations to be adequate to cover our operating expenses.

If we are unable to execute our business strategy and grow our business, either as a result of the risks identified in this section or for any other reason, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations will be adversely affected.

We have a large cash and cash equivalent position and in light of the recent market turmoil among financial institutions and related liquidity issues, we may be at risk of being uninsured for a large portion of such assets or having timing problems accessing such assets.

The recent market turmoil, including the failure or insolvency of several large financial institutions and the credit crunch affecting the short term debt markets, has caused liquidity problems for companies and institutions across the country. As of December 31, 2008, we had approximately \$25,000,000 in cash and cash equivalents with one large financial banking institution. Although the present regulatory response in the United States for when a large institution becomes insolvent generally has been to have the failing institution merge or transfer assets to more solvent entities, thereby avoiding failures, it is possible that any financial institution could become insolvent or fail. At times, our cash and cash equivalents may be uninsured or in deposit accounts that exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insurance limits. If the institution at which we have placed our funds were to become insolvent or fail, we could be at risk for losing a substantial portion of our cash deposits, or incur significant time delays in obtaining access to such funds. In light of the limited amount of federal insurance for deposits, even if we were to spread our cash assets among several institutions, we would remain at risk for the amount not covered by insurance.

The global economic crisis could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and capital resources.

The recent distress in the financial markets has resulted in extreme volatility in security prices and diminished liquidity and credit availability, and there can be no assurance that our liquidity will not be affected by changes in the financial markets and the global economy or that our capital resources will at all times be sufficient to satisfy our liquidity needs. Although we believe that cash provided by operations and our cash and cash equivalents currently on hand will provide us with sufficient liquidity through the current credit crisis, tightening of the credit markets could make it more difficult for us to access funds, refinance our existing debt, enter into agreements for new debt or obtain funding through the issuance of our securities.

In addition, the current credit crisis is having a significant negative impact on businesses around the world, and the impact of this crisis on our major suppliers cannot be predicted. The inability of key suppliers to access liquidity, or the insolvency of key suppliers, could lead to delivery delays or failures.

Our business may require additional capital for continued growth, and our growth may be slowed if we do not have sufficient capital.

The continued growth and operation of our business may require additional funding for working capital, debt service, the enhancement and upgrade of our network, the build-out of infrastructure to expand our coverage, possible acquisitions, and possible bids to acquire spectrum licenses. In addition, we must use a portion of our cash flows from operations and other available cash to make payments of principal and interest on our debt, thereby reducing funds that could be available for other purposes, such as working capital, the enhancement and upgrade of our network, the build-out of infrastructure to expand our coverage, possible acquisitions and possible bids to acquire spectrum licenses. We may be unable to secure such funding when needed in adequate amounts or on acceptable terms, if at all. To execute our business strategy, we may issue additional equity securities in public or private offerings, potentially at a price lower than the market price at the time of such issuance. Similarly, we may seek additional debt financing, and may be forced to incur significant interest expense. If we cannot secure sufficient funding, we may be forced to forego strategic opportunities or delay, scale back or eliminate network deployments, operations, acquisitions, spectrum bids and other investments.

Our debt and restrictive debt covenants could limit our financing options and liquidity position, which would limit our ability to grow our business.

In January 2007, we issued 8% senior convertible debentures, due December 31, 2009, in an aggregate principal amount of \$3,500,000. On January 4, 2008, a debenture holder converted \$750,000 of senior convertible debentures into common stock at a conversion price of \$2.75 per share resulting in the issuance of 272,727 shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2008, \$2,750,000 of principal remains outstanding under the 8% senior convertible debentures. The terms of our debt could have negative consequences to the holders of our common stock.

Covenants in the securities purchase agreement governing our debentures impose operating and financial restrictions on us. These restrictions prohibit or limit our ability, and the ability of our subsidiaries, to, among other things:

- pay cash dividends to our stockholders;
- incur additional debt;
- permit liens on or conduct sales of assets; and
- engage in transactions with affiliates.

These restrictions may limit our ability to obtain additional financing, withstand downturns in our business and take advantage of business opportunities. Moreover, we may seek additional debt financing on terms that include more restrictive covenants, may require repayment on an accelerated schedule or may impose other obligations that limit our ability to grow our business, acquire needed assets, or take other actions we might otherwise consider appropriate or desirable.

Many of our competitors are better established and have resources significantly greater than we have, which may make it difficult to attract and retain customers.

The market for broadband and related services is highly competitive, and we compete with several other companies within each of our markets. Many of our competitors are well established with larger and better developed networks and support systems, longer-standing relationships with customers and suppliers, greater name recognition and greater financial, technical and marketing resources than we have. Our competitors may subsidize competing services with revenue from other sources and, thus, may offer their products and services at prices lower than ours. Our competitors may also reduce the prices of their services significantly or may offer broadband connectivity packaged with other products or services. We may not be able to reduce our prices or otherwise combine our services with other products or services, which may make it more difficult to attract and retain customers. In addition, new competitors may emerge for our primarily commercial and business customer base from businesses primarily engaged in providing residential services to consumers.

We expect existing and prospective competitors to adopt technologies or business plans similar to ours, or seek other means to develop services competitive with ours, particularly if our services prove to be attractive in our target markets. This competition may make it difficult to attract and retain customers.

We may experience difficulties in constructing, upgrading and maintaining our network, which could adversely affect customer satisfaction, increase customer turnover and reduce our revenues.

Our success depends on developing and providing products and services that give customers high quality Internet connectivity. If the number of customers using our network and the complexity of our products and services increase, we will require more infrastructure and network resources to maintain the quality of our services. Consequently, we may be required to make substantial investments to construct and improve our facilities and equipment, and to upgrade our technology and network infrastructure. If we do not implement these developments successfully, or if we experience inefficiencies, operational failures or unforeseen costs during implementation, the quality of our products and services could decline.

We may experience quality deficiencies, cost overruns and delays in implementing our network improvements and expansion, in maintenance and upgrade projects, including the portions of those projects not within our control or the control of our contractors. Our network requires the receipt of permits and approvals from numerous governmental bodies, including municipalities and zoning boards. Such bodies often limit the expansion of transmission towers and other construction necessary for our business. Failure to receive approvals in a timely fashion can delay system rollouts and raise the cost of completing projects. In addition, we typically are required to obtain rights from land, building or tower owners to install our antennae and other equipment to provide service to our customers. We may not be able to obtain, on terms acceptable to us, or at all, the rights necessary to construct our network and expand our services.

We also face challenges in managing and operating our network. These challenges include operating, maintaining and upgrading network and customer premise equipment to accommodate increased traffic or technological advances, and managing the sales, advertising, customer support, billing and collection functions of our business while providing reliable network service at expected speeds and quality. Our failure in any of these areas could adversely affect customer satisfaction, increase customer turnover or churn, increase our costs and decrease our revenues.

If we do not obtain and maintain rights to use licensed spectrum in one or more markets, we may be unable to operate in these markets which could negatively impact our ability to execute our business strategy. To the extent we secure licensed spectrum, we face increased operational costs, greater regulatory scrutiny and may become subject to arbitrary government decision making.

Since we provide our services in some markets by using licensed spectrum, we must secure and maintain sufficient rights to use licensed spectrum by obtaining licenses or long-term leases in those markets. Obtaining licensed spectrum can be a long and difficult process that can be costly and require a disproportionate amount of our management resources, and may require us to incur significant debt or secure additional capital. We may not be successful in our efforts to secure financing and may not be deemed a qualified bidder due to our small size or our creditworthiness, or be able to acquire, lease or maintain the spectrum necessary to execute our strategy.

Licensed spectrum, whether owned or leased, poses additional risks, including:

- inability to satisfy build-out or service deployment requirements upon which spectrum licenses or leases are, or may be, conditioned;
- increases in spectrum acquisition costs or complexity;
- competitive bids, pre-bid qualifications and post-bid requirements for spectrum acquisitions, in which we may not be successful leading to, among other things, increased competition;
- adverse changes to regulations governing spectrum rights;
- the risk that acquired or leased spectrum will not be commercially usable or free of damaging interference from licensed or unlicensed operators in our or adjacent bands;
- contractual disputes with, or the bankruptcy or other reorganization of, the license holders, which could adversely affect control over the spectrum subject to such licenses;
- failure of the FCC or other regulators to renew spectrum licenses as they expire; and
- invalidation of authorization to use all or a significant portion of our spectrum.

In a number of markets we utilize unlicensed spectrum which is subject to intense competition, low barriers of entry and slowdowns due to multiple users.

We presently utilize unlicensed spectrum in connection with our service offerings. Unlicensed or "free" spectrum is available to multiple users and may suffer bandwidth limitations, interference and slowdowns if the number of users exceeds traffic capacity. The availability of unlicensed spectrum is not unlimited and others do not need to obtain permits or licenses to utilize the same unlicensed spectrum that we currently or may in the future utilize, threatening our ability to reliably deliver our services. Moreover, the prevalence of unlicensed spectrum creates low barriers of entry in our business, creating the potential for heightened competition.

Interruption or failure of our information technology and communications systems could impair our ability to provide services which could damage our reputation and adversely affect our operating results.

Our services depend on the continuing operation of our information technology and communications systems. We have experienced service interruptions in the past and may experience service interruptions or system failures in the future. Any unscheduled service interruption adversely affects our ability to operate our business and could result in an immediate loss of revenues. If we experience frequent or persistent system or network failures, our reputation could be permanently harmed. We may need to make significant capital expenditures to increase the reliability of our systems, however, these capital expenditures may not achieve the results we expect.

Excessive customer churn may adversely affect our financial performance by slowing customer growth, increasing costs and reducing

The successful implementation of our business plan depends upon controlling customer churn. Customer churn is a measure of customers who stop using our services. Customer churn could increase as a result of:

- billing errors and/or general reduction in the quality of our customer service;
- interruptions to the delivery of services to customers over our network;
- the availability of competing technology, such as cable modems, DSL, third-generation cellular, satellite, wireless internet service and other emerging technologies, some of which may be less expensive or technologically superior to those offered by us; and
- new competitors entering the markets in which we offer service.

An increase in customer churn can lead to slower customer growth, increased costs and a reduction in revenues.

If our strategy is unsuccessful, we will not be profitable and our stockholders could lose their investment.

There is no track record for companies pursuing our strategy. Many fixed wireless companies have failed and there is no guarantee that our strategy will be successful or profitable. If our strategy is unsuccessful, the value of our company may decrease and our stockholders could lose their investment.

We may not be able to effectively control and manage our growth which would negatively impact our operations.

If our business and markets continue to grow and develop, it will be necessary for us to finance and manage expansion in an orderly fashion. In addition, we may face challenges in managing expanding product and service offerings, and in integrating acquired businesses. Such events would increase demands on our existing management, workforce and facilities. Failure to satisfy increased demands could interrupt or adversely affect our operations and cause backlogs and administrative inefficiencies.

The success of our business depends on the continuing contributions of key personnel and our ability to attract, train and retain highly qualified personnel.

We are highly dependent on the continued services of our Chairman, Philip Urso, and our President and Chief Executive Officer, Jeffrey M. Thompson. On December 21, 2007, we entered into a two-year employment agreement with Jeffrey M. Thompson which includes renewal options. We cannot guarantee that any of these persons will stay with us for any definite period. Loss of the services of any of these individuals could adversely impact our operations. We do not maintain policies of "key man" insurance on our executives.

In addition, we must be able to attract, train, motivate and retain highly skilled and experienced technical employees in order to successfully introduce our services in new markets and grow our business in existing markets. Qualified technical employees often are in great demand and may be unavailable in the time frame required to satisfy our business requirements. We may not be able to attract and retain sufficient numbers of highly skilled technical employees in the future. The loss of technical personnel or our inability to hire or retain sufficient technical personnel at competitive rates of compensation could impair our ability to successfully grow our business and retain our existing customer base.

Any acquisitions we make could result in integration difficulties that could lead to substantial costs, delays or other operational or financial difficulties.

We may seek to expand by acquiring competing businesses, including those operating in our current business markets or those operating in other geographic markets. We cannot accurately predict the timing, size and success of our acquisition efforts and the associated capital commitments that might be required. We expect to encounter competition for acquisitions which may limit the number of potential acquisition opportunities and may lead to higher acquisition prices. We may not be able to identify, acquire or profitably manage additional businesses or successfully integrate acquired businesses, if any, without substantial costs, delays or other operational or financial difficulties.

In addition, such acquisitions involve a number of other risks, including:

- failure of the acquired businesses to achieve expected results;
- diversion of management's attention and resources to acquisitions;
- failure to retain key customers or personnel of the acquired businesses;
- disappointing quality or functionality of acquired equipment and personnel; and
- risks associated with unanticipated events, liabilities or contingencies.

Client dissatisfaction with, or performance problems of, a single acquired business could negatively affect our reputation. The inability to acquire businesses on reasonable terms or successfully integrate and manage acquired companies, or the occurrence of performance problems at acquired companies, could result in dilution, unfavorable accounting treatment or one-time charges and difficulties in successfully managing our business

Our inability to obtain capital, internally generate cash, secure additional debt financing, or use shares of our common stock to finance future acquisitions could impair the growth and expansion of our business.

The extent to which we will be able or willing to use shares of our common stock to consummate acquisitions will depend on (i) the market value of our securities which will vary, (ii) liquidity, which is presently limited, and (iii) the willingness of potential sellers to accept shares of our common stock as full or partial payment for their business. Using shares of our common stock for this purpose may result in significant dilution to existing stockholders. To the extent that we are unable to use common stock to make future acquisitions, our ability to grow through acquisitions may be limited by the extent to which we are able to raise capital through debt or equity financings. We may not be able to obtain the necessary capital to finance any acquisitions. If we are unable to obtain additional capital on acceptable terms, we may be required to reduce the scope of expansion or redirect resources committed to internal purposes. Our failure to use shares of our common stock to make future acquisitions may hinder our ability to actively pursue our acquisition program.

We rely on a limited number of third party suppliers that manufacture network equipment, and install and maintain our network sites. If these companies fail to perform or experience delays, shortages or increased demand for their products or services, we may face shortage of components, increased costs, and may be required to suspend our network deployment and our product and service introduction.

We depend on a limited number of third party suppliers to produce and deliver products required for our networks. We also depend on a limited number of third parties to install and maintain our network facilities. We do not maintain any long term supply contracts with these manufacturers. If a manufacturer or other provider does not satisfy our requirements, or if we lose a manufacturer or any other significant provider, we may have insufficient network equipment for delivery to customers and for installation or maintenance of our infrastructure, and we may be forced to suspend the deployment of our network and enrollment of new customers, thus impairing future growth.

If our data security measures are breached, customers may perceive our network and services as not secure, which may adversely affect our ability to attract and retain customers and expose us to liability.

Network security and the authentication of a customer's credentials are designed to protect unauthorized access to data on our network. Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to or to sabotage networks change frequently and may not be recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate or implement adequate preventive measures against unauthorized access or sabotage. Consequently, unauthorized parties may overcome our encryption and security systems, and obtain access to data on our network, including on a device connected to our network. In addition, because we operate and control our network and our customers' Internet connectivity, unauthorized access or sabotage of our network could result in damage to our network and to the computers or other devices used by our customers. An actual or perceived breach of network security, regardless of whether the breach is our fault, could harm public perception of the effectiveness of our security measures, adversely affect our ability to attract and retain customers, expose us to significant liability and adversely affect our business prospects.

In providing our services we could infringe on the intellectual property rights of others, which may cause us to engage in costly litigation and, if we do not prevail, could also cause us to pay substantial damages and prohibit us from selling our services.

Third parties may assert infringement or other intellectual property claims against us. We may have to pay substantial damages, including damages for past infringement if it is ultimately determined that our services infringe a third party's proprietary rights. Further, we may be prohibited from selling or providing some of our services before we obtain additional licenses, which, if available at all, may require us to pay substantial royalties or licensing fees. Even if claims are without merit, defending a lawsuit takes significant time, may be expensive and may divert management's attention from our other business concerns. Any public announcements related to litigation or interference proceedings initiated or threatened against us could cause our business to be harmed and our stock price to decline.

Risks Relating to Our Industry

An economic or industry slowdown may materially and adversely affect our business.

Slowdowns in the economy or in the wireless or broadband industry may impact demand for wireless or broadband services, thereby reducing demand for our services, or negatively impact other businesses or industries, thereby reducing demand for our services by causing others to delay or abandon implementation of new systems and technologies, including wireless broadband services. Further, the war on terrorism, the threat of additional terrorist attacks, the political and economic uncertainties resulting therefrom and other unforeseen events may impose additional risks upon and adversely affect the wireless or broadband industry, and our business.

The industry in which we operate is continually evolving which makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and increases the risk of an investment in our securities. Our services may become obsolete and we may not be able to develop competitive products or services on a timely basis or at all.

The broadband and wireless services industries are characterized by rapid technological change, competitive pricing, frequent new service introductions, and evolving industry standards and regulatory requirements. We believe that our success depends on our ability to anticipate and adapt to these challenges and to offer competitive services on a timely basis. We face a number of difficulties and uncertainties associated with our reliance on technological development, such as:

- competition from service providers using more traditional and commercially proven means to deliver similar or alternative services;
- competition from new service providers using more efficient, less expensive technologies, including products not yet invented or developed;
- uncertain customer acceptance:
- realizing economies of scale;
- responding successfully to advances in competing technologies in a timely and cost-effective manner;
- migration toward standards-based technology, requiring substantial capital expenditures; and
- existing, proposed or undeveloped technologies that may render our wireless broadband services less profitable or obsolete.

As the services offered by us and our competitors develop, businesses and consumers may not accept our services as a commercially viable alternative to other means of delivering wireless broadband services. As a result, our services may become obsolete and we may be unable to develop competitive products or services on a timely basis, or at all.

We are subject to extensive regulation that could limit or restrict our activities. If we fail to comply with these regulations, we may be subject to penalties, including fines and suspensions, and past due fees and interest which may adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Our business, including the acquisition, lease, maintenance, and use of spectrum licenses, is extensively regulated by federal, state and local governmental authorities. A number of federal, state and local privacy, security, and consumer laws also apply to our business. These regulations and their application are subject to continual change as new legislation, regulations or amendments to existing regulations are adopted from time to time by governmental or regulatory authorities, including as a result of judicial interpretations of such laws and regulations. Current regulations directly affect the breadth of services we are able to offer and may impact the rates, terms and conditions of our services. Regulation of companies that offer competing services such as cable and DSL providers, and telecommunications carriers also affects our business.

We believe that we are not required to register with the Universal Service Administrative Company ("USAC") as a seller of telecommunications, nor are we required to collect USF Fees from our customers or to pay USF Fees directly. It is possible, however, that the FCC may assert that we are a seller of telecommunications and that we are required to register and pay USF Fees on some or all of our gross revenues. Although we would contest any such assertion, we could become obligated to pay USF Fees, interest and penalties to USAC with respect to our gross revenues, past and/or future, from providing telecommunications services, and we may be unable to retroactively bill our customers for past USF Fees.

In addition, the FCC or other regulatory authorities may in the future restrict our ability to manage customers' use of our network, thereby limiting our ability to prevent or address customers' excessive bandwidth demands. To maintain the quality of our network and user experience, we may manage the bandwidth used by our customers' applications, in part by restricting the types of applications that may be used over our network. If the FCC or other regulatory authorities were to adopt regulations that constrain our ability to employ bandwidth management practices, excessive use of bandwidth-intensive applications would likely reduce the quality of our services for all customers. Such decline in the quality of our services could harm our business.

The breach of a license or applicable law, even if inadvertent, can result in the revocation, suspension, cancellation or reduction in the term of a license or the imposition of fines. In addition, regulatory authorities may grant new licenses to third parties, resulting in greater competition in territories where we already have rights to licensed spectrum. In order to promote competition, licenses may also require that third parties be granted access to our bandwidth, frequency capacity, facilities or services. We may not be able to obtain or retain any required license, and we may not be able to renew a license on favorable terms, or at all.

Wireless broadband services may become subject to greater state or federal regulation in the future. The scope of the regulations that may apply to companies like us and the impact of such regulations on our competitive position are presently unknown and could be detrimental to our business and prospects.

Risks Relating to Our Organization

Our certificate of incorporation allows for our board to create new series of preferred stock without further approval by our stockholders which could adversely affect the rights of the holders of our common stock.

Our board of directors has the authority to fix and determine the relative rights and preferences of preferred stock. Our board of directors also has the authority to issue preferred stock without further stockholder approval. As a result, our board of directors could authorize the issuance of a series of preferred stock that would grant to holders the preferred right to our assets upon liquidation, the right to receive dividend payments before dividends are distributed to the holders of common stock and the right to the redemption of the shares, together with a premium, prior to the redemption of our common stock. In addition, our board of directors could authorize the issuance of a series of preferred stock that has greater voting power than our common stock or that is convertible into our common stock, which could decrease the relative voting power of our common stock or result in dilution to our existing stockholders.

Our officers and directors own a substantial amount of our common stock and, therefore, exercise significant control over our corporate governance and affairs which may result in their taking actions with which other shareholders do not agree.

Our executive officers and directors, and entities affiliated with them, control approximately 25% of our outstanding common stock (including exercisable stock options held by them). These shareholders, if they act together, may be able to exercise substantial influence over the outcome of all corporate actions requiring approval of our shareholders, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions, which may result in corporate action with which other shareholders do not agree. This concentration of ownership may also have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control which might be in other shareholders' best interest but which might negatively affect the market price of our common stock.

We are subject to financial reporting and other requirements for which our accounting, internal audit and other management systems and resources may not be adequately prepared.

On January 12, 2007, we became subject to reporting and other obligations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Section 404 requires us to conduct an annual management assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 and thereafter, and to obtain a report by our independent auditors addressing these assessments for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2009 and thereafter. These reporting and other obligations will place significant demands on our management, administrative, operational, internal audit and accounting resources. We anticipate that we may need to (i) upgrade our systems, (ii) implement additional financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures, (iii) implement an internal audit function, and (iv) hire additional accounting, internal audit and finance staff. If we are unable to accomplish these objectives in a timely and effective fashion, our ability to comply with our financial reporting requirements and other rules that apply to reporting companies could be impaired. Any failure to maintain effective internal controls could have a negative impact on our ability to manage our business and on our stock price.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock

We may fail to qualify for continued listing on NASDAO which could make it more difficult for investors to sell their shares.

In May 2007, our common stock was approved for listing on The NASDAQ Capital Market and our common stock continues to be listed on the Capital Market. There can be no assurance that trading of our common stock on such market will be sustained or that we can meet NASDAQ's continued listing standards. In the event that our common stock fails to qualify for continued inclusion, our common stock could thereafter only be quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board which is commonly referred to as the "pink sheets." Under such circumstances, shareholders may find it more difficult to dispose of, or to obtain accurate quotations, for our common stock, and our common stock would become substantially less attractive to certain purchasers such as financial institutions, hedge funds and other similar investors.

Our common stock may be affected by limited trading volume and price fluctuations, each of which could adversely impact the value of our common stock.

There has been limited trading in our common stock and there can be no assurance that an active trading market in our common stock will either develop or be maintained. Our common stock has experienced, and is likely to experience in the future, significant price and volume fluctuations, which could adversely affect the market price of our common stock without regard to our operating performance. In addition, we believe that factors such as quarterly fluctuations in our financial results and changes in the overall economy or the condition of the financial markets could cause the price of our common stock to fluctuate substantially. These fluctuations may also cause short sellers to periodically enter the market in the belief that we will have poor results in the future. We cannot predict the actions of market participants and, therefore, can offer no assurances that the market for our stock will be stable or appreciate over time.

We have not paid dividends in the past and do not expect to pay dividends in the future. Any return on an investment in our common stock may be limited to the value of the stock.

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate doing so in the foreseeable future. The payment of dividends on our common stock will depend on our earnings, financial condition and other business and economic factors as our board of directors may consider relevant. If we do not pay dividends, our common stock may be less valuable because a return on a shareholder's investment will only occur if our stock price appreciates.

Although the NASDAQ Capital Market has temporarily suspended its continued listing requirement of a minimum bid price, we could be at risk of a delisting in the future.

Under the rules of the NASDAQ Capital Market, we must maintain a minimum bid price of \$1.00 for our common stock. If a company's stock trades for 30 consecutive business days below the \$1.00 minimum closing bid price requirement, NASDAQ will send a deficiency notice to the company, advising that it has been granted a "compliance period" of 180 calendar days to regain compliance with the applicable requirements. Given the current extraordinary market conditions, NASDAQ has suspended the bid price and market value requirements through Monday, April 20, 2009 for all of its listed companies.

Our stock price as of December 31, 2008 had a closing price of \$0.69 per share. As of March 13, 2009, our stock price had a closing price of \$0.81. Although the \$1.00 minimum bid rule has been temporarily suspended, it is possible that we could receive notice of possible delisting if our stock trades at less than \$1.00 when the rule is reinstated. If we receive a delisting notice and are unable to increase our stock price above \$1.00, our shares could be delisted from trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties.

Our executive offices are currently located in Middletown, Rhode Island, where we lease approximately 42,137 square feet of space, consisting of a 17,137 square feet building at 55 Hammarlund Way for our administrative, engineering, information technology and customer care offices and a 25,000 square feet building at 88 Silva Lane for our sales call center. Our annual rent payments totaled approximately \$527,000 in 2008 and will remain at that level through February 2010, before increasing to approximately \$558,000 through May 2012, and approximately \$590,000 through the end of the lease. Our lease expires on October 1, 2013 with an option to renew for an additional five-year term. We do not own any real property.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

There are no legal proceedings pending, and we are not aware of any proceeding contemplated by a governmental authority, to which we are a party or any of our property is subject.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

No matter was submitted during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 to a vote of security holders through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information

FISCAL YEAR 2008

Our common stock was quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board from January 12, 2007 through May 30, 2007 under the symbol TWER.OB. Since May 31, 2007, our common stock has been listed on The NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol TWER. Prior to January 12, 2007, there was no active market for our common stock. The following table sets forth the high and low bid prices for our common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the OTC Bulletin Board, and the high and low sales prices as reported on The NASDAQ Capital Market. The quotations reflect interdealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission, and may not represent actual transactions.

HIGH

LOW

First Quarter	\$	3.65	\$	1.01
Second Quarter	\$	1.59	\$	1.07
Third Quarter	\$	1.84	\$	0.87
Fourth Quarter	\$	1.10	\$	0.53
FISCAL YEAR 2007		HIGH		LOW
January 12, 2007 to March 31, 2007	\$	11.00	\$	0.66
Amril 1, 2007 to May 20, 2007	¢	7.70	Φ	((0

January 12, 2007 to March 31, 2007	\$ 11.00 \$	0.66
April 1, 2007 to May 30, 2007	\$ 7.72 \$	6.60
May 31, 2007 to June 30, 2007	\$ 7.75 \$	3.31
Third Quarter	\$ 3.80 \$	2.38
Fourth Quarter	\$ 3.20 \$	1.89

The last reported sales price of our common stock on The NASDAQ Capital Market on December 31, 2008 was \$0.69 and on March 13, 2009, the last reported sales price was \$0.81. According to the records of our transfer agent, as of March 13, 2009, there were approximately 63 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock, and we do not intend to pay any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Rather, we expect to retain future earnings (if any) to fund the operation and expansion of our business and for general corporate purposes. In addition, our agreements with debenture holders and other investors restrict us from paying any cash dividends.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

As of December 31, 2008, securities issued and securities available for future issuance under our 2008 Non-Employee Directors Compensation Plan, our 2007 Equity Compensation Plan and our 2007 Incentive Stock Plan were as follows:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

	Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights	price of outstanding	Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders	3,335,793	\$ 1.82	2,513,321
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders	<u> </u>	-	_
Total	3,335,793	\$ 1.82	2,513,321

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

Not applicable.

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Prior to January 12, 2007, we were a public shell company, as defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), without material assets or activities. On January 12, 2007, we completed a reverse merger (the "Merger"), pursuant to which a wholly-owned subsidiary of ours merged with and into a private company, Towerstream Corporation, with such private company being the surviving company. In connection with the Merger, we discontinued our former business and commenced operating the business of Towerstream as our sole line of business. The former private company, our subsidiary, changed its name to Towerstream I, Inc. For financial reporting purposes, Towerstream, and not the public shell company, is considered the acquiror. All costs associated with the Merger (other than financing related costs in connection with the simultaneous sale of \$3,500,000 of 8% senior convertible debentures due 2009 and warrants, and approximately \$11,500,000 of units consisting of common stock and warrants) were expensed as incurred.

Overview

We provide fixed wireless broadband services to commercial customers based on a monthly recurring revenue model. We provide customers high speed Internet access over a fixed wireless network transmitting over both regulated and unregulated radio spectrum. Our service supports bandwidth on demand, wireless redundancy, virtual private networks ("VPNs"), disaster recovery, bundled data and video services. We provide service to approximately 1,400 business customers in New York City, Boston, Chicago, Los Angeles, San Francisco, Seattle, Miami, Dallas-Fort Worth, Providence and Newport, Rhode Island.

Characteristics of our Revenues and Expenses

We offer our services under agreements having terms of one, two or three years. Pursuant to these agreements, we bill customers on a monthly basis, in advance, for each month of service. Payments received in advance of services performed are recorded as deferred revenues.

Costs of revenues consists of expenses that are directly related to providing services to our customers, including the costs to establish points of presence in new markets, and to strengthen or expand our presence in existing markets. These costs include bandwidth purchases, tower and roof rent and utilities, site work visits, equipment support and network supplies (collectively "Network Operating Expenses"). Our gross margins can fluctuate from period to period due to the timing of when we add network capacity to existing markets or expand into new markets. This variability in gross margin occurs, in part, because we are required to incur these costs prior to generating new customer revenues.

Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of the salaries, benefits, travel and other costs of our sales and marketing teams, as well as marketing initiatives and business development expenses.

Customer support services includes salaries and related payroll costs associated with our customer support services, customer care, and installation and operations staff.

General and administrative expenses include costs attributable to corporate overhead and the overall support of our operations. Salaries and other related payroll costs for executive management, finance, administration and information systems personnel are included in this category. Other costs include rent, utilities and other facilities costs, accounting, legal and other professional services, and other general operating expenses.

Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2007

Revenues. Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled \$10,656,081 compared to \$6,883,343 for the year ended December 31, 2007, representing an increase of \$3,772,738, or 55%. This increase was driven by a 51% increase in our customer base during 2008.

Sequential growth for the year ended December 31, 2008 was 55% compared to 9% for the year ended December 31, 2007. The higher sequential growth during 2008 was driven by a 51% increase in customers and a 13% increase in monthly average revenue per user ("ARPU"). ARPU as of December 31, 2008 totaled \$828 compared to \$730 as of December 31, 2007, representing an increase of \$98, or 13%. This increase was primarily related to higher relative sales of our midrange service offering which is priced at \$999 per month. Customer churn, calculated as a percent of revenue lost on a monthly basis from customers terminating service, totaled 1.24% for the year ended December 31, 2008 compared to 1.60% for the year ended December 31, 2007, representing a 23% decrease on a percentage basis. During 2008, we invested approximately \$3,773,000 to strengthen our network in existing markets and establish a network presence in new markets. In addition, we added personnel in our customer care and engineering departments. These efforts resulted in higher levels of customer satisfaction and reduced churn.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled \$4,076,100 compared to \$2,469,065 for the year ended December 31, 2007, representing an increase of \$1,607,035, or 65%. The dollar increase was consistent with the growth in revenues. Gross margins decreased to 62% during 2008 compared to 64% during 2007. We launched service in Miami at the end of the first quarter of 2007 and in Dallas-Fort Worth in the second quarter of 2008. Over the past twelve months, we have also expanded our presence in existing markets including Chicago, Los Angeles, New York and San Francisco. These activities increased Network Operating Expenses by approximately \$1,276,000 in 2008 compared to 2007. In addition, network personnel costs increased by approximately \$331,000 as additional employees were hired to support our continued growth and expansion.

Depreciation. Depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled \$3,222,716 compared to \$1,879,515 for the year ended December 31, 2007, representing an increase of \$1,343,201, or 71%. This increase was primarily related to the continued investment in our network, base station and customer premise equipment (collectively, our "Network") which was required to support the growth in our customer base and our expansion into new markets. Gross fixed assets at December 31, 2008 totaled \$21,805,582 compared to \$14,309,212 at December 31, 2007, representing an increase of \$7,496,370, or 52%.

Customer Support Services. Customer support services for the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled \$1,820,101 compared to \$931,785 for the year ended December 31, 2007, representing an increase of \$888,316, or 95%. This increase was primarily related to the costs of additional personnel hired to support our growing customer base. Average headcount increased from 23 to 35 in 2008.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses for the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled \$7,692,268 compared to \$3,588,111 for the year ended December 31, 2007, representing an increase of \$4,104,157, or 114%. Approximately \$3,641,000, or 89%, related to higher payroll costs associated with the expansion of our sales and marketing team, which includes direct sales, sales support and marketing personnel. The average number of personnel totaled 123 in 2008 compared to 54 in 2007. Approximately \$430,000, or 10%, of the increase related to higher advertising expenses, primarily related to internet based advertising programs.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled \$7,208,801 compared to \$6,827,036 for the year ended December 31, 2007, representing an increase of \$381,765, or 6%. Payroll costs in 2008 increased by approximately \$700,000 related to higher employee headcount. Rent and utilities increased by approximately \$313,000 as additional space was leased due to the increase in headcount which also caused an increase of approximately \$158,000 in software user fees and approximately \$247,000 in other employee based expenses. Insurance costs increased by approximately \$78,000. These increases were offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation of approximately \$146,000 in 2008. Professional services fees decreased by approximately \$976,000 in 2008 compared to 2007 which included the extensive use of third party advisers related to the Merger and financing transactions completed during 2007.

Interest Income. Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled \$578,373 compared to \$1,460,825 for the year ended December 31, 2007, representing a decrease of \$882,452, or 60%. In March 2008, we transferred our cash balances into four separate U.S. Treasury based money market funds. These funds have lower yields but are higher quality instruments than the funds in which we previously invested. Cash balances decreased from approximately \$41,000,000 to approximately \$25,000,000 during 2008. We used approximately \$7,873,000 to support operating activities and approximately \$7,684,000 to acquire property and equipment, primarily related to our Network.

Interest Expense. Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled \$509,593 compared to \$974,774 for the year ended December 31, 2007, representing a decrease of \$465,181, or 48%. The decrease was attributable to certain non-recurring transactions related to our Merger in January 2007. During 2007, we agreed to convert certain notes payable into common stock at a discounted rate. We recognized approximately \$314,000 of non-cash interest expense, representing the discounted amount, in connection with this transaction. In addition, we recognized non-cash interest expense of approximately \$75,000 in connection with an agreement to increase the outstanding balance of certain promissory notes by the same amount. These promissory notes were subsequently converted into common stock in connection with the Merger.

Other Expense, Net. Other expense, net for the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled \$82,294 compared to \$175,607 for the year ended December 31, 2007, representing a decrease of \$93,313, or 53%. In April 2007, we entered into a two-year services agreement with a third party monitoring firm to help us comply with the Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act ("CALEA"). In the fourth quarter of 2008, we terminated the contract and entered into a new agreement with another third party that was more cost beneficial. We recognized an expense of \$56,365 representing the net book value of equipment capitalized under the original agreement that is no longer being used. In 2007, we recognized a charge of approximately \$150,000 for failing to get a registration statement declared effective by a certain date.

Net Loss. Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled \$13,377,419 compared to \$8,501,725 for the year ended December 31, 2007, representing an increase of \$4,875,694, or 57%. Approximately \$4,104,000, or 84%, of the increase related to higher sales and marketing expenses primarily associated with the expansion of our sales and marketing team. The average number of sales and marketing personnel totaled 123 in 2008 compared to 54 in 2007.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically met our liquidity and capital requirements primarily through the public sale and private placement of equity securities and debt financing. Cash and cash equivalents totaled \$24,740,268 and \$40,756,865 at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents related to our operating, investing and financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2008, each of which is described below. At February 28, 2009, we had cash and cash equivalents totaling approximately \$22,500,000.

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities. Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled \$7,873,237 compared to \$3,973,760 for the year ended December 31, 2007, representing an increase of \$3,899,477, or 98%. This increase was primarily due to higher payroll and related costs associated with increased headcount across all areas of operations, most significantly in sales and marketing.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled \$8,095,870 compared to \$6,895,114 for the year ended December 31, 2007, representing an increase of \$1,200,756, or 17%. Acquisitions of property and equipment represented \$973,938, or 81%, of the increase. This increase related to both our expansion into new markets as well as the strengthening of our Network in existing markets. We entered the Miami market in March 2007 and the Dallas-Fort Worth market in April 2008 and incurred higher capital expenditures in 2008 for both of these new markets. Our Network includes equipment located on buildings at the customer location (commonly known as customer premise equipment ("CPE")) as well as on buildings in which we maintain points of presence ("POPs"), which are used to transmit data to multiple customers. Our customer count increased from approximately 900 to approximately 1,350 in 2008. Spending on CPE totaled approximately \$2,996,000 and spending on POPs totaled approximately \$3,773,000 during 2008. In addition, we used \$400,000 to purchase FCC licenses in 2008 compared to \$125,000 in 2007.

Net Cash Used in/Provided by Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2008 totaled \$47,490 compared to net cash provided by financing activities of \$51,465,376 for the year ended December 31, 2007, representing a decrease of \$51,512,866 or 100%. The decrease is directly related to financing transactions completed in 2007 including two equity transactions which raised net proceeds of \$48,251,237 and a debt financing transaction which raised \$3,360,000. No financing transactions were completed in 2008.

Working Capital. As of December 31, 2008, we had working capital of \$19,412,428. Based on our current operating activities and plans, we believe our existing working capital will enable us to meet our anticipated cash requirements for at least the next twelve months.

Private Placement

In connection with the Merger in January 2007, we completed a private placement pursuant to which we issued 5,110,056 shares of common stock at a price of \$2.25 per share and five-year warrants to purchase 2,555,030 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$4.50 per share resulting in aggregate gross proceeds of \$11,497,625. In connection with this transaction, we incurred placement agent fees of approximately \$446,400, and issued to the placement agent a five-year warrant to purchase an aggregate of 140,916 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$4.50 per share. In addition, we incurred other professional fees and expenses totaling approximately \$186,000 in connection with the Merger and private placement.

Senior Convertible Debentures

In conjunction with our Merger in January 2007, we also sold \$3,500,000 of senior convertible debentures. These debentures require quarterly interest payments of 8% per annum and mature on December 31, 2009. The debentures are convertible into shares of common stock at a conversion price of \$2.75 per share, subject to certain limitations. In addition, holders of the debentures received five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 636,364 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$4.00 per share and five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 636,364 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$6.00 per share.

In connection with the issuance of the debentures, we incurred placement agent fees totaling approximately \$140,000, and issued to the placement agent a five-year warrant to purchase 63,636 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$4.50 per share. This warrant had an estimated fair value of \$34,750.

In January 2008, a debenture holder converted \$750,000 of debentures into common stock at a conversion price of \$2.75 per share resulting in the issuance of 272,727 shares of common stock. The carrying value of the debentures on the date of the conversion was \$676,607. Accordingly, we recognized the remaining debt discount of \$73,393 as non-cash interest expense in connection with the conversion. The principal amount of debentures outstanding as of December 31, 2008 totaled \$2,750,000.

Registered Offering

In June 2007, we issued 10,000,000 shares of common stock in connection with a registered direct offering at \$4.00 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of \$40,000,000. In connection with the registered offering, we incurred placement agent fees of \$2,800,000 and issued to the placement agents five-year warrants to purchase 300,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$4.00 per share.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Critical accounting policies are those that require the application of management's most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often because of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain and that may change in subsequent periods. In preparing the financial statements, we utilized available information, including our past history, industry standards and the current economic environment, among other factors, in forming our estimates and judgments, giving due consideration to materiality. Actual results may differ from these estimates. In addition, other companies may utilize different estimates, which may impact the comparability of our results of operations to other companies in our industry. We believe that of our significant accounting policies, the following may involve a higher degree of judgment and estimation.

Revenue Recognition. We normally enter into contractual agreements with our customers for periods ranging between one to three years. We recognize the total revenue provided under a contract ratably over the contract period, including any periods under which we have agreed to provide services at no cost. Deferred revenues are recognized as a liability when billings are received in advance of the date when revenues are earned. We apply the revenue recognition principles set forth under SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 104, ("SAB 104") which provides for revenue to be recognized when (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) delivery or installation has been completed, (iii) the customer accepts and verifies receipt, and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured.

Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets consist primarily of property and equipment, and FCC licenses. Long-lived assets are reviewed annually for impairment or whenever events or circumstances indicate their carrying value may not be recoverable. Conditions that would result in an impairment charge include a significant decline in the market value of an asset, a significant change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used, or a significant adverse change that would indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets is not recoverable. When such events or circumstances arise, an estimate of the future undiscounted cash flows produced by the asset, or the appropriate grouping of assets, is compared to the asset's carrying value to determine if impairment exists pursuant to the requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets". If the asset is determined to be impaired, the impairment loss is measured based on the excess of its carrying value over its fair value. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of their carrying value or net realizable value.

Asset Retirement Obligations. SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations," ("FAS 143") addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. FAS 143 requires the recognition of an asset retirement obligation and an associated asset retirement cost when there is a legal obligation in connection with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets. Our network equipment is installed on both buildings in which we have a lease agreement ("Company Locations") and at customer locations. In both instances, the installation and removal of our equipment is not complicated and does not require structural changes to the building where the equipment is installed. Costs associated with the removal of our equipment at company or customer locations are not material, and accordingly, we have determined that we do not presently have asset retirement obligations under FAS 143.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. We have no off-balance sheet arrangements, financings, or other relationships with unconsolidated entities known as "Special Purposes Entities".

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements", ("FAS 157") which is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and for interim periods within those years. This statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands the related disclosure requirements. This statement applies under other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. The statement indicates, among other things, that a fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell an asset or transfer a liability occurs in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. FAS 157 defines fair value based upon an exit price model. Relative to FAS 157, the FASB issued FASB Staff Positions ("FSP") 157-1, FSP 157-2, and proposed FSP 157-c. FSP 157-1 amends FAS 157 to exclude SFAS No. 13, "Accounting for Leases", ("FAS 13") and its related interpretive accounting pronouncements that address leasing transactions, while FSP 157-2 delays the effective date of FAS 157 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis. FSP 157-c clarifies the principles in FAS 157 on the fair value measurement of liabilities. We adopted FAS 157 as of January 1, 2008, with the exception of the application of the statement to nonrecurring nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities on our consolidated financial statements upon adoption, we do not anticipate a material impact on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities -including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115", ("FAS 159") which permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The fair value option permits entities to choose to measure eligible items at fair value at specified election dates. A business entity shall report unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. Adoption is required for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We adopted FAS 159 on January 1, 2008, but elected not to apply the fair value option to any of our eligible financial assets or liabilities at that date. Therefore, the provisions of FAS 159 had no impact on our consolidated financial position and results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2008.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), "Business Combinations", ("FAS 141(R)") which replaces SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations". FAS 141(R) establishes principles and requirements for determining how an enterprise recognizes and measures the fair value of certain assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination, including noncontrolling interests, contingent consideration and certain acquired contingencies. FAS 141(R) also requires that acquisition-related transaction expenses and restructuring costs be expensed as incurred rather than capitalized as a component of the business combination. FAS 141(R) will be applicable prospectively beginning January 1, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, "Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an Amendment of ARB No. 51", ("FAS 160"). FAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary (previously referred to as minority interests). FAS 160 also requires that a retained noncontrolling interest upon the deconsolidation of a subsidiary be initially measured at its fair value. Upon adoption of FAS 160, we will be required to report any noncontrolling interests as a separate component of consolidated stockholders' equity. We will also be required to present any net income allocable to noncontrolling interests and net income attributable to our stockholders separately in our consolidated statements of operations. FAS 160 is effective prospectively beginning January 1, 2009.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, "The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles", ("FAS 162"). FAS 162 identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the principles to be used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP"). FAS 162 directs the GAAP hierarchy to the entity, not the independent auditors, as the entity is responsible for selecting accounting principles for the financial statements that are presented in conformity with GAAP. FAS 162 is effective November 15, 2008. The adoption of this pronouncement did not have any impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position ("FSP") FAS 142-3, "Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets." This FSP amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under FASB Statement No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets", ("FAS 142"). The objective of this FSP is to improve the consistency between the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under FAS 142 and the period of expected cash flows used to measure the fair value of the asset under FAS 141(R) and other United States GAAP principles. This FSP is effective beginning January 1, 2009. We are in the process of evaluating the impact of this provision on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In May 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position APB 14-1, "Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlement)", ("FSP APB 14-1"). FSP APB 14-1 specifies that for convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion, issuers of such instruments should separately account for the liability and equity components in the statement of financial condition. The excess of the initial proceeds of the convertible debt instrument over the amount allocated to the liability component creates a debt discount which should be amortized as interest expense over the expected life of the liability. FSP APB 14-1 is effective beginning January 1, 2009 and is to be applied retrospectively. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting FSP APB 14-1 on our financial position and results of operations.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Not applicable.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

	Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	25
Consolidated Balance Sheets	26
	25
Consolidated Statements of Operations	27
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity	28
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	29
	21
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	31
24	

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Towerstream Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Towerstream Corporation and Subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Towerstream Corporation, as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Marcum & Kliegman LLP New York, New York March 16, 2009

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	As of December 31,			
		2008		2007
<u>Assets</u>				
Current Assets				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	24,740,268	\$	40,756,865
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$66,649 and \$77,615, respectively		279,399		184,621
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		319,325		736,156
Total Current Assets		25,338,992		41,677,642
Property and equipment, net		12,890,779		8,518,750
Security deposits and other assets		183,063		283,790
FCC licenses		875,000		475,000
Total Assets	\$	39,287,834	\$	50,955,182
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity				
Current Liabilities				
Current maturities of capital lease obligations	\$	25,346	\$	47,486
Accounts payable	Ψ	1,394,476	Ψ	1,413,970
Accrued expenses		861,390		685,576
Deferred revenues		985,403		631,506
Short-term debt, net of discount of \$142,605		2,607,395		-
Deferred rent		52,554		_
Total Current Liabilities		5,926,564		2,778,538
Other Liabilities				
Long-term debt, net of discount of \$357,139		_		3,142,861
Capital lease obligations, net of current maturities		_		25,341
Deferred rent		354,071		273,154
Total Other Liabilities		354,071		3,441,356
Total Liabilities		6,280,635		6,219,894
Commitments (Note 14)				
Stockholders' Equity				
Preferred stock, par value \$0.001; 5,000,000 authorized, none outstanding		_		_
Common stock, par value \$0.001; 70,000,000 shares authorized; 34,587,854 and 34,080,053 issued and				
outstanding, respectively		34,588		34.080
Additional paid-in-capital		54,851,755		53,223,033
Deferred consulting costs		-		(20,100)
Accumulated deficit		(21,879,144)		(8,501,725)
Total Stockholders' Equity		33,007,199		44,735,288
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity	\$	39,287,834	\$	50,955,182

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

	For the Year Decembe	
	2008	2007
Revenues	\$ 10,656,081	\$ 6,883,343
Operating Expenses		
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation)	4,076,100	2,469,065
Depreciation	3,222,716	1,879,515
Customer support services	1,820,101	931,785
Sales and marketing	7,692,268	3,588,111
General and administrative	7,208,801	6,827,036
Total Operating Expenses	24,019,986	15,695,512
Operating Loss	(13,363,905)	(8,812,169)
Other (Expense) Income		
Interest income	578,373	1,460,825
Interest expense	(509,593)	(974,774)
Other expense, net	(82,294)	(175,607)
Total Other (Expense) Income	(13,514)	310,444
Net Loss	\$ (13,377,419)	\$ (8,501,725)
Net loss per common share - basic and diluted	\$ (0.39)	\$ (0.29)
Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic and diluted	34,543,972	29,243,802

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY For the Years Ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

	Common Stock		Additional Paid-In-			Deferred onsulting	Accumulated				
	Shares	шъ	Amount		Capital	C	Costs	A	Deficit		Total
Balance at January 1, 2007 (see Note 1)	15,000,000	\$	15,000	\$	8,896,803	\$	Costs	\$	(8,213,002)	\$	698,801
University Girls Calendar, Ltd. upon	13,000,000	Ф	13,000	Ф	0,090,003	Ф	-	Ф	(8,213,002)	Ф	090,001
merger on January 12, 2007	1,900,000		1,900		(18,652)						(16,752)
Recapitalization of accumulated deficit											
at the time of S corporation revocation					(8,213,002)				8,213,002		-
Net proceeds from issuance of common											
stock – January 12, 2007	5,110,056		5,110		11,046,127						11,051,237
Net proceeds from issuance of common											
stock – June 11, 2007	10,000,000		10,000		37,190,000						37,200,000
Conversion of stockholder's notes											
payable	1,302,582		1,303		1,940,333						1,941,636
Conversion of notes payable	156,250		156		249,844						250,000
Beneficial conversion feature upon conversion of stockholder's notes											
payable into common stock					378,055						378,055
Issuance of common stock for					2.0,000						2,3,022
consulting services	200,000		200		401,800		(402,000)				_
Exercise of warrants	56,062		56		119,917		(102,000)				119,973
Exercise of options	4,672		5		6,676						6,681
Fair value of warrants issued in	.,072				3,070						0,001
connection with issuance of											
debentures					526,927						526,927
Issuance of warrants to placement agent					020,527						020,527
in connection with issuance of											
debentures					34,750						34,750
Cashless exercise of warrants	350,431		350		(350)						-
Stock-based compensation					663,805						663,805
Amortization of deferred consulting					332,332						000,000
costs							381,900				381.900
Net loss							,		(8,501,725)		(8,501,725)
Balance at December 31, 2007	34,080,053		34,080		53,223,033		(20,100)		(8,501,725)		44,735,288
Conversion of long-term debt	272,727		273		749,727		(==,===)		(0,000,00)		750,000
Issuance of common stock for bonuses	31,099		31		21,116						21,147
Cashless exercise of warrants	184,938		185		(185)						
Cashless exercise of options	19,037		19		(19)						-
Payment for fractional shares upon	,				()						
cashless exercise					(9)						(9)
Stock-based compensation					858,092						858,092
Amortization of deferred consulting											·
costs							20,100				20,100
Net loss							,		(13,377,419)		(13,377,419)
Balance at December 31, 2008	34,587,854	\$	34,588	\$	54,851,755	\$	-		(21,879,144)	\$	33,007,199

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

	For the Years Ended December			
		2008		2007
Cash Flows From Operating Activities				
Net loss	\$	(13,377,419)	\$	(8,501,725)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:				
Provision for doubtful accounts		65,000		90,000
Depreciation		3,222,716		1,879,515
Stock-based compensation		899,339		1,045,705
Non-cash interest on notes payable		73,393		74,882
Amortization of beneficial conversion feature		-		378,055
Accretion of debt discount		141,141		169,788
Amortization of financing costs		58,250		56,308
Deferred rent		133,471		273,153
Loss on sale and disposition of property and equipment		83,409		25,631
Other		-		1,139
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:				
Accounts receivable		(159,778)		(117,178)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		477,024		(710,955)
Accounts payable		(19,493)		579,025
Accrued expenses		175,813		562,157
Deferred compensation		-		(10,000)
Deferred revenues		353,897		230,740
Total Adjustments	_	5,504,182		4,527,965
Net Cash Used In Operating Activities		(7,873,237)		(3,973,760)
The Cash Osea in Operating Mentities	_	(7,073,237)		(3,773,700)
Cash Flows From Investing Activities				
Acquisitions of property and equipment		(7,683,855)		(6,709,917)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment		5,700		44,600
Acquisition of FCC licenses		(400,000)		(125,000)
Change in security deposits		(17,715)		(104,797)
	_	(8,095,870)		(6,895,114)
Net Cash Used In Investing Activities		(8,093,870)		(0,893,114)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities				
Net proceeds from sale of debentures		_		3,360,000
Repayment of stockholder notes		_		(200,000)
Repayment of equipment note				(9,341)
Payment for fractional shares issuable upon cashless exercise of warrants		(9)		(7,541)
Repayment of capital leases		(47,481)		(63,174)
Proceeds from exercise of warrants		(47,401)		119,973
Proceeds from exercise of options		_		6,681
Net proceeds from sale of common stock				48,251,237
•		(47.400)		
Net Cash (Used In) Provided By Financing Activities	_	(47,490)	_	51,465,376
Net (Decrease) Increase In Cash and Cash Equivalents		(16,016,597)		40,596,502
1.00 (2 001 0000) Inci onot in onon inquirinonio		(10,010,077)		10,570,502
Cash and Cash Equivalents – Beginning		40,756,865		160,363
2 3	Φ.		¢	
<u>Cash and Cash Equivalents – Ending</u>	\$	24,740,268	\$	40,756,865

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - CONTINUED

	For the Years Ended December 31,			
		2008		2007
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information				_
Cash paid for:				
Interest	\$	172,427	\$	321,694
Non-cash investing and financing activities:				
Conversion of principal and interest on notes payable into shares of common stock	\$		\$	2,191,636
Conversion of long-term debt into shares of common stock	\$	750,000	\$	_
Assumption of accounts payable in reverse merger transaction	\$	_	\$	16,752

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Organization and Nature of Business

Towerstream Corporation (herein after referred to as "Towerstream" or the "Company") was formed on December 17, 1999 and was incorporated in Delaware. In January 2007, the Company terminated its Sub S tax status and elected to operate as a C corporation with its corporate headquarters located in Rhode Island.

In January 2007, Towerstream merged with a newly formed subsidiary of University Girls Calendar Ltd. (''UGC''), a publicly traded shell company. In connection with the merger, all outstanding shares of UGC were cancelled, except for 1,900,000 shares of common stock. Also, in connection with the merger, UGC issued 15,000,000 shares of its common stock for all the outstanding common stock of Towerstream. As a result of the transaction, the former owners of Towerstream became the controlling stockholders of UGC which also changed its name to Towerstream Corporation. The previously private company, Towerstream Corporation, changed its name to Towerstream I, Inc., and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the publicly traded company. The merger of Towerstream and UGC was a reverse merger that was accounted for as a recapitalization of Towerstream.

The Company provides fixed wireless broadband services to commercial customers based on a monthly recurring revenue model. The Company provides customers high speed Internet access over a fixed wireless network transmitting over both regulated and unregulated radio spectrum. The Company's service supports bandwidth on demand, wireless redundancy, virtual private networks ("VPNs"), disaster recovery, bundled data and video services. The Company provides service to business customers in New York City, Boston, Chicago, Los Angeles, San Francisco, Seattle, Miami, Dallas-Fort Worth, Providence and Newport, Rhode Island.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for annual financial statements and with Form 10-K and Article 8 of Regulation S-X of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In the opinion of the Company's management, the accompanying consolidated financial statements contain all the adjustments necessary (consisting only of normal recurring accruals) to present the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of operations and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 not misleading.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

Concentration of Credit Risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents.

At times, our cash and cash equivalents may be uninsured or in deposit accounts that exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insurance limits.

The Company also had approximately \$23,683,000 invested in four institutional money market funds. These funds are protected under the Securities Investor Protection Corporation ("SIPC"), a nonprofit membership corporation which provides limited coverage up to \$500,000.

Accounts Receivable . Accounts receivable are stated at cost less an allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects the Company's estimate of accounts receivable that will be not collected. The allowance is based on the history of past write-offs, the aging of balances, collections experience and current credit conditions. Amounts determined to be uncollectible are written-off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. Additions to the allowance for doubtful accounts, e.g. bad debt expense, totaled \$65,000 and \$90,000 for 2008 and 2007, respectively. Deductions to the allowance for doubtful accounts, e.g. customer write-offs, totaled \$75,966 and \$119,630 for 2008 and 2007, respectively.

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost and include equipment, installation costs and materials. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the useful lives or the term of the respective lease. Network, base station and customer premise equipment are depreciated over estimated useful lives ranging from 5 to 7 years; furniture, fixtures and office equipment from 5 to 7 years; computer equipment of 3 to 5 years; and system software of 3 years.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs, which do not generally extend the useful life of the assets, are charged to expense as incurred. Gains or losses on disposal of property and equipment are reflected in the statement of operations in the period of disposal.

FCC Licenses. Federal Communication Commission ("FCC") licenses are initially recorded at cost and are considered to be intangible assets with an indefinite life because the Company is able to maintain the license indefinitely as long as it complies with certain FCC requirements. The Company intends to maintain compliance with such requirements. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets", ("FAS 142") provides that an asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortized. However, as further described in the next paragraph, these assets are reviewed annually for impairment.

Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets consist primarily of property and equipment, and FCC licenses. Long-lived assets are reviewed annually for impairment, or whenever events or circumstances indicate their carrying value may not be recoverable. Conditions that would result in an impairment charge include a significant decline in the market value of an asset, a significant change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used, or a significant adverse change that would indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets is not recoverable. When such events or circumstances arise, an estimate of the future undiscounted cash flows produced by the asset, or the appropriate grouping of assets, is compared to the asset's carrying value to determine if impairment exists pursuant to the requirements of SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets". If the asset is determined to be impaired, the impairment loss is measured based on the excess of its carrying value over its fair value. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of their carrying value or net realizable value.

The Company has determined that there were no impairments of its property and equipment or its FCC licenses during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007.

SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations", ("FAS 143") addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. FAS 143 requires the recognition of an asset retirement obligation and an associated asset retirement cost when there is a legal obligation in connection with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets. The Company's network equipment is installed on both buildings in which the Company has a lease agreement ("Company Locations") and at customer locations. In both instances, the installation and removal of the Company's equipment is not complicated and does not require structural changes to the building where the equipment is installed. Costs associated with the removal of the Company's equipment at company or customer locations are not material, and accordingly, the Company has determined that it does not presently have asset retirement obligations under FAS 143.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. In January 2008, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements", ("FAS 157") which defines fair value for accounting purposes, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosure requirements regarding fair value measurements. The Company's adoption of FAS 157 did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements. Fair value is defined as an exit price, which is the price that would be received upon sale of an asset or paid upon transfer of a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The degree of judgment utilized in measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities generally correlates to the level of pricing observability. Financial assets and liabilities with readily available, actively quoted prices or for which fair value can be measured from actively quoted prices in active markets generally have more pricing observability and require less judgment in measuring fair value. Conversely, financial assets and liabilities that are rarely traded or not quoted have less price observability and are generally measured at fair value using valuation models that require more judgment. These valuation techniques involve some level of management estimation and judgment, the degree of which is dependent on the price transparency of the asset, liability or market and the nature of the asset or liability. The Company has categorized its financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value into a three-level hierarchy in accordance with FAS 157. See Note 13 for a further discussion regarding the Company's measurement of financial assets and liabilities at fair value.

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- CONTINUED

Income Taxes. Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income and the reversal of deferred tax liabilities during the period in which related temporary differences become deductible. The benefit of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the Company's income tax returns are recognized in the consolidated financial statements if such positions are more likely than not of being sustained.

Segment Information. SFAS No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information", ("FAS 131") establishes standards for reporting information on operating segments in interim and annual financial statements. The Company operates in one segment which is the business of fixed wireless broadband services. The Company's chief operating decision-maker reviews the Company's operating results on an aggregate basis and manages the Company's operations as a single operating segment.

Revenue Recognition. The Company normally enters into contractual agreements with its customers for periods ranging between one to three years. The Company recognizes the total revenue provided under a contract ratably over the contract period, including any periods under which the Company has agreed to provide services at no cost. Deferred revenues are recognized as a liability when billings are received in advance of the date when revenues are earned. The Company applies the revenue recognition principles set forth under SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 104, ("SAB 104") which provides for revenue to be recognized when (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) delivery or installation has been completed, (iii) the customer accepts and verifies receipt, and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured.

Deferred Revenues. Deferred revenues consist of either prepayment of future service periods or payments received for current services which overlap monthly reporting periods.

Advertising Costs. The Company charges advertising costs to expense as incurred. Advertising costs for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were approximately \$1,024,000 and \$594,000, respectively, and are included in sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Stock-Based Compensation. The Company accounts for share-based awards exchanged for employee services in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), "Share-Based Payment", ("FAS 123(R)"). Under FAS 123(R), share-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date, based on the estimated fair value of the award, and is recognized as expense, net of estimated forfeitures, over the employee's requisite service period. Compensation expense is amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award, which is generally the maximum vesting period of the award.

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Share. Net loss per share is computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, "Earnings Per Share", ("FAS 128") which requires the presentation of both basic and diluted earnings per share.

Basic and diluted net loss per share has been calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. All potentially dilutive common shares have been excluded since their inclusion would be antidilutive.

The following common stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per common share because they were antidilutive. The exercise of these common stock equivalents outstanding could potentially dilute earnings per shares in the future. The exercise of the outstanding stock options and warrants could generate proceeds up to approximately \$26,067,000.

	Years Ended I	December 31,
	2008	2007
Stock options	3,335,793	2,328,067
Warrants	4,332,310	4,672,325
Convertible debt	1,000,001	1,272,728
Total	8,668,104	8,273,120

Reclassifications. Certain accounts in the prior year consolidated financial statements have been reclassified for comparative purposes to conform to the presentation in the current year consolidated financial statements. These reclassifications have no effect on the previously reported net loss.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued FAS 157, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and for interim periods within those years. This statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands the related disclosure requirements. This statement applies under other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. The statement indicates, among other things, that a fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell an asset or transfer a liability occurs in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. FAS 157 defines fair value based upon an exit price model. Relative to FAS 157, the FASB issued FASB Staff Positions ("FSP") 157-1, FSP 157-2, and proposed FSP 157-c. FSP 157-1 amends FAS 157 to exclude SFAS No. 13, "Accounting for Leases", ("FAS 13"), and its related interpretive accounting pronouncements that address leasing transactions, while FSP 157-2 delays the effective date of FAS 157 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis. FSP 157-c clarifies the principles in FAS 157 on the fair value measurement of liabilities. The Company adopted FAS 157 as of January 1, 2008, with the exception of the application of the statement to nonrecurring nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities on its consolidated financial statements upon adoption, the Company does not anticipate a material impact on its consolidated financial position and results of operations. Refer to Note 13 for additional discussion on fair value measurements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities -including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115", ("FAS 159") which permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The fair value option permits entities to choose to measure eligible items at fair value at specified election dates. A business entity shall report unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. Adoption is required for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company adopted FAS 159 on January 1, 2008, but elected not to apply the fair value option to any of its eligible financial assets or liabilities at that date. Therefore, the provisions of FAS 159 had no impact on the Company's consolidated financial position and results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2008.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), "Business Combinations", ("FAS 141(R)") which replaces SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations". FAS 141(R) establishes principles and requirements for determining how an enterprise recognizes and measures the fair value of certain assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination, including noncontrolling interests, contingent consideration and certain acquired contingencies. FAS 141(R) also requires that acquisition-related transaction expenses and restructuring costs be expensed as incurred rather than capitalized as a component of the business combination. FAS 141(R) will be applicable prospectively beginning January 1, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, "Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an Amendment of ARB No. 51", ("FAS 160"). FAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary (previously referred to as minority interests). FAS 160 also requires that a retained noncontrolling interest upon the deconsolidation of a subsidiary be initially measured at its fair value. Upon adoption of FAS 160, the Company will be required to report any noncontrolling interests as a separate component of consolidated stockholders' equity. The Company will also be required to present any net income allocable to noncontrolling interests and net income attributable to the stockholders of the Company separately in its consolidated statements of operations. FAS 160 is effective prospectively beginning January 1, 2009.

In May 2008, FASB issued SFAS No. 162, "The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles", ("FAS 162"). FAS 162 identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the principles to be used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP"). FAS 162 directs the GAAP hierarchy to the entity, not the independent auditors, as the entity is responsible for selecting accounting principles for the financial statements that are presented in conformity with GAAP. FAS 162 is effective November 15, 2008. The adoption of this pronouncement did not have any impact on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position ("FSP") FAS 142-3, "Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets." This FSP amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under FAS 142. The objective of this FSP is to improve the consistency between the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under FAS 142 and the period of expected cash flows used to measure the fair value of the asset under FAS 141(R) and other United States GAAP principles. This FSP is effective beginning January 1, 2009. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this provision on its consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In May 2008, the FASB issued FASB APB Staff Position 14-1, "Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlement)", ("FSP APB 14-1"). FSP APB 14-1 specifies that for convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion, issuers of such instruments should separately account for the liability and equity components in the statement of financial condition. The excess of the initial proceeds of the convertible debt instrument over the amount allocated to the liability component creates a debt discount which should be amortized as interest expense over the expected life of the liability. FSP APB 14-1 is effective beginning January 1, 2009 and is to be applied retrospectively. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting FSP APB 14-1 on its financial position and results of operations.

Note 3. Property and Equipment, net

The Company's property and equipment, net is comprised of:

	December 31,			
	_	2008		2007
Network and base station equipment	\$	11,075,631	\$	7,448,258
Customer premise equipment		7,079,096		4,120,647
Furniture, fixtures and equipment		1,525,980		1,294,472
Computer equipment		559,645		476,206
System software		789,810		473,261
Leasehold improvements		775,420		496,368
		21,805,582		14,309,212
Less: accumulated depreciation		8,914,803		5,790,462
	\$	12,890,779	\$	8,518,750

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was \$3,222,716 and \$1,879,515, respectively. The Company sold or wrote-off property and equipment with \$187,485 of cost and \$98,375 of accumulated depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2008. The Company sold or wrote-off property and equipment with \$142,907 of cost and \$72,670 of accumulated depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Property held under capital leases included within the Company's property and equipment consists of the following:

	December 31,			
	2008 200'			2007
Network and base station equipment	\$	168,441	\$	194,702
Less: accumulated depreciation		106,099		93,419
	\$	62,342	\$	101,283

The Company wrote-off property and equipment under capital leases with \$26,261 of cost and \$25,386 of accumulated deprecation during the year ended December 31, 2008.

Note 4. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

	December 31,				
		2008		2007	
Payroll and related	\$	510,608	\$	376,318	
Penalties		149,976		149,976	
Interest		55,000		-	
Rent		50,149		-	
Advertising		-		45,950	
Other		95,657		113,332	
Total	\$	861,390	\$	685,576	

Note 5. Debt

In January 2007, the Company issued \$3,500,000 of 8% senior convertible debentures (the "Debentures"). These Debentures mature on December 31, 2009, and are convertible, in whole or in part, into shares of common stock at an initial conversion price of \$2.75 per share. In addition, holders of the Debentures received warrants to purchase an aggregate of 636,364 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$4.00 per share and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 636,364 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$6.00 per share. These warrants are exercisable until January 2012 and were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The proceeds were allocated between the warrants (\$526,927) and the Debentures (\$2,973,073) based on their relative fair values. The initial, discounted carrying value of the Debentures of \$2,973,073 is being accreted to the maturity value over the term of the Debentures. The amount of accretion recorded in each period is recognized as non-cash interest expense. Interest expense totaled \$361,689 during 2008 and included \$220,548 associated with the 8% coupon and \$141,141 associated with the accretion of the discount. Interest expense totaled \$437,962 during 2007 and included \$268,174 associated with the 8% coupon and \$169,788 associated with the accretion of the discount.

In January 2008, a Debenture holder converted \$750,000 of Debentures into common stock at a conversion price of \$2.75 per share resulting in the issuance of 272,727 shares of common stock. The carrying value of the Debentures on the date of conversion was \$676,607. Accordingly, the Company recognized the remaining debt discount of \$73,393 as non-cash interest expense in connection with the conversion.

Should the Company, at any time while the Debentures are outstanding, sell or grant any option to purchase or sell or grant any right to reprice, or otherwise dispose of or issue any common stock entitling any party to acquire shares of the Company's common stock at a per share price less than \$2.75, the conversion price of the Debentures shall be reduced to equal that lower price.

The terms of the Debentures provide for interest on the outstanding principal at the rate of 8% per annum, payable quarterly commencing January 1, 2008. So long as a resale registration statement is in effect with respect to the shares of common stock underlying the Debentures and the debenture holders are not subject to any market standoff provisions, as described below, interest is payable in either cash or common stock, at the Company's option. If interest is paid in common stock, however, the shares shall be valued at 90% of the 10-day volume weighted average price of the Company's common stock prior to the interest payment date. In the event that there is an effective registration statement on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to the common stock underlying the Debentures and the closing bid price for the 10 trading days prior to an interest payment date is \$3.44, or greater, the interest payment for that period will be waived. Moreover, if there is an effective registration statement on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to the common stock underlying the Debentures, the debenture holders are not subject to any market standoff provisions, and the 10-day volume weighted average price of the Company's common stock exceeds \$5.50 for 10 consecutive trading days, the Company has the right to force the debenture holders to convert their Debentures into common stock upon 10-day prior written notice.

As part of the debenture agreement, the Company may not pledge or grant a lien on any of its assets without the debenture holders' consent.

In connection with the Debentures, the Company incurred placement agent fees totaling approximately \$140,000 and issued placement agent warrants to purchase up to 63,636 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$4.50 per share. The warrants are exercisable for five years and were valued at \$34,750 using the Black-Scholes pricing model. These financing costs are being amortized over the term of the debenture agreement.

Note 6. Capital Lease Obligations

The Company leases certain equipment under various capital leases expiring in 2009. Lease obligations at December 31, 2008 total \$26,670, of which \$25,346 represents principal and \$1,324 represents deferred interest expense. The assets are depreciated over the lease term, which approximates their useful lives, using the straight-line method. Depreciation expense of assets under capital leases in 2008 and 2007 was approximately \$38,000 and \$39,000 respectively.

Note 7. Capital Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock at a par value of \$0.001. There were no issuances of preferred stock as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The Company is authorized to issue 70,000,000 shares of common stock at a par value of \$0.001. The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share. The holders of the Company's common stock are entitled to receive ratably such dividends, if any, as may be declared by the board of directors out of legally available funds. Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the holders of the Company's common stock are entitled to share ratably in all assets that are legally available for distribution. The holders of the Company's common stock have no preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights. The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of the Company's common stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of any series of preferred stock, which may be designated solely by action of the board of directors and issued in the future.

During 2008, two former employees exercised options to purchase a total of 185,705 shares. The options were exercised on a cashless exercise basis resulting in the issuance of 19,037 shares. Also in 2008, two former employees exercised warrants to purchase a total of 251,717 shares. The warrants were exercised on a cashless exercise basis resulting in the issuance of 184,938 shares. Under a cashless exercise, the holder uses a portion of the shares that would otherwise be issuable upon exercise, rather than cash, as consideration for the exercise. The amount of net shares issuable in connection with a cashless exercise will vary based on the exercise price of the option or warrant compared to the current market price of the Company's common stock on the date of exercise.

In December 2008, 31,099 shares of common stock were issued to certain executive officers as part of their quarterly bonuses. The Company recognized compensation expense totaling \$21,147 which represented the fair value of the shares on the date of issuance.

During 2007, two former employees exercised options to purchase a total of 4,672 shares at an exercise price of \$1.43 per share.

In June 2007, the Company issued 10,000,000 shares of common stock in connection with a registered direct offering (the ''Registered Offering'') at \$4.00 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of \$40,000,000. In connection with the Registered Offering, the Company incurred placement agent fees of \$2,800,000 and issued warrants to purchase 300,000 shares of common stock to the placement agents at an exercise price of \$4.00 per share for a period of five years.

In June 2007, stockholders exercised warrants to purchase 325,000 and 75,000 shares, respectively. Both transactions were cashless exercises. Accordingly, 288,976 shares were issued in exchange for the 325,000 warrants exercised and 61,455 shares were issued in exchange for the 75,000 warrants exercised.

In connection with each of its January 2007 unit and debenture private placements, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement, pursuant to which it agreed to file a registration statement with the SEC to register the resale of the shares of common stock issued as part of the units together with the common stock underlying the unit warrants, the debentures and the debenture warrants, and to cause such registration statement to be declared effective by the SEC on or before May 28, 2007. This registration statement was not declared effective until July 18, 2007. Accordingly, the Company recognized a liability of approximately \$150,000 representing liquidated damages equal to 1% of the purchase price of the affected investors.

In February 2007, warrants to purchase 56,062 shares of common stock were exercised for \$119,973.

In January 2007, concurrent with the Merger, UGC sold 5,110,056 shares of common stock for gross proceeds of \$11,497,625 (at \$2.25 per share) through a private placement (the "Private Placement"). In addition, investors received warrants to purchase 2,555,030 shares of common stock for a period of five years at an exercise price of \$4.50 per share. In connection with the Private Placement, UGC incurred placement agent fees totaling approximately \$446,400, and issued warrants to purchase up to 140,916 shares of common stock to the placement agent at an exercise price of \$4.50 per share for a period of five years.

In January 2007, certain stockholders collectively transferred an aggregate of \$1,616,754 in outstanding promissory notes and other payables due from Towerstream to a group of third party investors. In connection with these transfers, Towerstream issued new promissory notes to these investors with an aggregate principal sum of \$1,691,636 and cancelled the previous obligations. The increase in the notes payable of approximately \$75,000 was recorded as additional interest expense by the Company. These notes were automatically converted into 1,127,757 shares of common stock of UGC at a discounted conversion price as a result of the Merger. The Company recognized non-cash interest expense of approximately \$314,000, representing the discounted amount.

In January 2007, concurrent with the Merger, a stockholder converted a \$250,000 note exercised into 174,825 shares of common stock at \$1.43 per share.

In January 2007, concurrent with the Merger, a \$250,000 promissory note was converted into 156,250 shares of common stock at a discounted conversion price as a result of the Merger. The Company recognized non-cash interest expense of approximately \$64,000, representing the discounted amount.

In January 2007, the Company entered into a one year consulting agreement for investor relations services. The agreement provides for monthly payments of \$7,500 plus expenses and the issuance of 200,000 shares of common stock. The fair value of the common shares was \$402,000 which was amortized over the one year consulting term. For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company recognized \$20,100 and \$381,900, respectively, which were included in general and administrative expenses.

Note 8. Share-Based Compensation

The Company uses the Black-Scholes valuation model to value options granted to employees, directors and consultants. Compensation expense, including the effect of forfeitures, is recognized over the period of service, generally the vesting period. Stock-based compensation for the amortization of stock options granted under the Company's stock option plans totaled \$858,092 and \$663,805 for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Stock-based compensation for the amortization of stock-based consulting fees totaled \$20,100 and \$381,900 for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Stock-based compensation is included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The unamortized amount of stock options expense was \$1,194,372 as of December 31, 2008, which will be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.47 years. There were no unamortized stock-based consulting fees as of December 31, 2008.

The fair values of stock option grants were calculated on the dates of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model and the following weighted average assumptions:

	Years Ended De	cember 31,
	2008	2007
Risk-free interest rate	1.7% - 3.4%	3.3% - 5.0%
Expected volatility	74% - 98%	57% - 60%
Expected life (in years)	5 – 6.5	7
Expected dividend yield	0%	0%

The risk-free interest rate is based on rates established by the Federal Reserve. In 2008, the Company's expected volatility was based upon the historical volatility for its common stock. In 2007, the Company's expected volatility was based on the volatility of publicly-traded peers. In 2008, the expected life of the Company's options was determined using the simplified method under Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 110 whereas in 2007, the expected life was based on the period of time that options were expected to be outstanding. The dividend yield is based upon the fact that the Company has not historically paid dividends, and does not expect to pay dividends in the future.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company recorded \$21,147 of additional stock-based compensation related to the issuance of 31,099 shares of common stock to certain executive officers as part of their 2008 bonus program.

Note 9. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has established a 401(k) retirement plan ("401(k) plan") which covers all eligible employees who have attained the age of twenty-one and have completed 30 days of employment with the Company. The Company can elect to match up to a certain amount of employees' contributions to the 401(k) plan. No employer contributions were made during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007.

Note 10. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes using the statutory Federal tax rate as compared to the Company's effective tax rate is summarized as follows:

	For the Years Ended	December 31,
	2008	2007
Federal statutory rate	(34.0) %	(34.0) %
State taxes	(6.0) %	(6.0) %
Permanent differences	0.0%	7.0%
Valuation allowance	40.0%	33.0%
Effective tax rate	0.0%	0.0%

Income tax benefit consists of the following:

	For the Years Ended December 31,					
		2008		2007		
Income tax benefit at federal statutory rate	\$	(4,548,394)	\$	(2,387,218)		
State income taxes, net of federal benefit		(802,658)		(421,274)		
Other		307,230		236,590		
Change in valuation allowance		5,043,822		2,571,902		
Total income tax benefit	\$	_	\$	_		

As a result of the Company's significant net operating loss ("NOL") and the corresponding valuation allowance, no income tax benefit has been recorded at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of the following:

	For the Years Ended December 3					
	2008					
Net operating loss carryforward	\$	7,939,891	\$	2,612,914		
Stock-based compensation		608,559		418,082		
Allowance for doubtful accounts		26,660		31,046		
Other		16,764		6,667		
Deferred tax assets		8,591,874		3,068,709		
Depreciation		(947,372)		(485,918)		
FCC licenses		(28,778)		(10,889)		
Deferred tax liabilities		(976,150)		(496,807)		
Valuation allowance		(7,615,724)		(2,571,902)		
Net	\$		\$	_		

FIN 48

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes - an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109", ("FIN 48"). This interpretation establishes a minimum threshold for financial statement recognition of the benefit of tax positions, and requires certain expanded disclosures. Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on measurement, derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting for income taxes in interim periods, as well as the required disclosures and transition. The adoption of FIN 48 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial position and results of operations.

FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. Differences between tax positions taken and or expected to be taken in a tax return and the benefit recognized and measured pursuant to the interpretation are referred to as "unrecognized benefits". A liability is recognized (or amount of NOL carryforward or amount of tax refundable is reduced) for an unrecognized tax benefit because it represents an enterprise's potential future obligation to the taxing authority for a tax position that was not recognized as a result of applying provisions of FIN 48.

In accordance with FIN 48, interest costs related to unrecognized tax benefits are required to be calculated (if applicable) and would be classified within interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations. Penalties would be recognized as a component of general and administrative expenses. No interest and penalties were recorded during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, no liability for unrecognized tax benefits was required to be recorded.

NOL Limitations

The Company's utilization of NOL carryforwards is subject to an annual limitation due to ownership changes that have occurred previously or that could occur in the future as provided in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as well as similar state and foreign provisions. In general, an ownership change, as defined by Section 382, results from transactions increasing the ownership of certain stockholders or public group in the stock of a corporation by more than fifty percentage points over a three-year period. Since its formation, the Company has raised capital through the issuance of capital stock and various convertible instruments which, combined with the purchasing shareholders' subsequent disposition of these shares, has resulted in an ownership change as defined by Section 382, and also could result in an ownership change in the future upon subsequent disposition.

The annual NOL limitation is determined by first multiplying the value of the Company's stock at the time of ownership change by the applicable long-term tax exempt rate, and could then be subject to additional adjustments, as required. Any limitation may result in expiration of a portion of the NOL carryforwards before utilization.

The Company has not utilized any of its NOL carryforwards as it has never reported taxable income. The Company has applied a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets related to its NOL carryforwards. Federal NOLs will begin expiring in 2027. State NOLs will begin expiring in 2012.

Valuation Allowance

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, the Company has considered whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. In making this determination, under the applicable financial reporting standards, the Company is allowed to consider the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies. A full valuation allowance has been recorded for the deferred tax asset balance as of December 31, 2008 and 2007. A valuation allowance will be maintained until sufficient positive evidence exists to support the reversal of any portion or all of the valuation allowance, net of appropriate reserves.

Note 11. Stock Option Plans

In conjunction with the Merger on January 12, 2007, Towerstream reserved a total of 3,200,000 shares for the issuance of options and warrants. Also, in conjunction with the Merger, the Company adopted the 2007 Equity Compensation Plan (the "2007 Plan"). The 2007 Plan provides for the issuance of options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, bonus shares and dividend equivalents to officers and other employees, consultants and directors of the Company. Under the Merger agreement, all options and certain warrants were transferred into the 2007 Plan, including 350,386 warrants, which were exchanged for 350,386 options. The total number of shares of common stock issuable under the 2007 Plan is 2,403,922. A total of 2,366,494 stock options or common stock have been issued under the 2007 Plan as of December 31, 2008.

In May 2007, the Board of Directors approved the adoption of the 2007 Incentive Stock Plan which provides for the issuance of up to 2,500,000 shares of common stock in the form of options or restricted stock (the "2007 Incentive Stock Plan"). The 2007 Incentive Stock Plan was approved by the Company's stockholders in May 2007. A total of 1,024,107 stock options have been issued under the 2007 Incentive Stock Plan as of December 31, 2008.

Options granted under both the 2007 Plan and the 2007 Incentive Plan have terms up to ten years and are exercisable at a price per share not less than the fair market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. The total number of shares of common stock that remain available for issuance as of December 31, 2008 under the 2007 Plan and the 2007 Incentive Stock Plan combined is 1,513,321 shares.

In August 2008, the Company's stockholders approved the adoption of the 2008 Non-Employee Directors Compensation Plan (the "2008 Directors Plan"). Under the 2008 Directors Plan, an aggregate of 1,000,000 shares have been reserved for issuance. As of December 31, 2008, no shares have been issued under this plan. Options granted under the 2008 Directors Plan have terms of up to five years and are exercisable at a price per share equal to the fair market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.

Transactions under the stock option plans during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows:

	Number of Options	Weighted Average Exercise Price
Outstanding as of January 1, 2007	1,504,564	\$ 1.31
Granted during 2007	523,340	4.83
Warrants exchanged for options	350,386	1.14
Exercised	(4,672)	1.43
Forfeited /expired	(45,551)	1.43
Outstanding as of December 31, 2007	2,328,067	2.08
Granted during 2008	1,261,032	1.26
Exercised	(185,705)	1.43
Forfeited /expired	(67,601)	1.70
Outstanding as of December 31, 2008	3,335,793	\$ 1.82

The weighted average fair value of the options granted during 2008 and 2007 were \$0.92 and \$2.89, respectively.

The following table summarizes information concerning outstanding and exercisable stock options as of December 31, 2008:

Options Outstanding									tion	s Exercisa	able
Range of Exercise Prices	Number Outstanding	Weighted Average Weighted Remaining Average Contractual Exercise Life (years) Price		Proceeds Upon Exercise	Intrinsic Value		Number Exercisable			Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life (years)	
\$0.68 - \$0.78	645,309	7.45	\$	0.73	\$ 470,700	\$	1,150	280,309	\$	0.78	4.16
\$1.14 - \$1.22	550,386	7.24	\$	1.17	\$ 643,440		-	550,386	\$	1.17	7.24
\$1.32 - \$1.45	1,432,487	6.75	\$	1.41	\$2,025,257		-	948,966	\$	1.43	5.40
\$2.00 - \$2.25	362,611	8.67	\$	2.11	\$ 763,597		-	135,910	\$	2.22	8.15
\$3.70	135,000	8.49	\$	3.70	\$ 499,500		-	45,000	\$	3.70	8.49
\$7.05	135,000	8.35	\$	7.05	\$ 951,750		-	45,000	\$	7.05	8.35
\$9.74	75,000	3.12	\$	9.74	\$ 730,500		<u>-</u>	65,625	\$	9.74	3.12
	3,335,793	7.23	\$	1.82	\$6,084,744	\$	1,150	2,071,196	\$	1.76	5.96

The intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the closing price of the Company's common stock at December 31, 2008, which was \$0.69 per share, and the exercise price of the options. There was no intrinsic value associated with options exercisable as of December 31, 2008.

The number of shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding options, and the proceeds upon the exercise of such options, will be lower if an option holder elects to exercise on a cashless basis.

Note 12. Stock Warrants

The Company has issued warrants to purchase shares of common stock which expire at various dates through June 2012. Under the Merger agreement, 350,386 warrants were exchanged for 350,386 options under the 2007 Plan.

Changes in warrants outstanding for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows:

	Number of Warrants	Weighted Average Exercise price
Warrants outstanding as of January 1, 2007	1,146,462	\$ 0.97
Granted (weighted average fair value of \$0.92)	4,332,311	4.61
Warrants exchanged for options	(350,386)	1.14
Exercised	(456,062)	0.89
Warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2007	4,672,325	4.34
Exercised during 2008	(251,717)	0.75
Forfeited/expired	(88,298)	1.27
Warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2008	4,332,310	\$ 4.61

The following table summarizes information concerning outstanding and exercisable warrants as of December 31, 2008:

Warrants Outstanding								Warrants Exercisable				
Range of Exercise Prices	Number Outstanding	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life (years)	Weighted Average Exercise Price		age Proceeds cise Upon		Number Exercisable	Weighted Average Exercise Price		Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life (years)		
\$4.00	936,364	3.17	\$	4.00	\$	3,745,456	936,364	\$	4.00	3.17		
\$4.50	2,759,582	3.03	\$	4.50	\$	12,418,119	2,759,582	\$	4.50	3.03		
\$6.00	636,364	3.03	\$	6.00	\$	3,818,184	636,364	\$	6.00	3.03		
	4,332,310	3.06	\$	4.61	\$	19,981,759	4,332,310	\$	4.61	3.06		

This is no intrinsic value associated with the Company's warrants outstanding or exercisable as of December 31, 2008.

The number of shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding warrants, and the proceeds upon the exercise of such warrants, will be lower if a warrant holder elects to exercise on a cashless basis.

Note 13. Fair Value Measurement

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS 157, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and for interim periods within those years. This statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands the related disclosure requirements. This statement applies under other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. The statement indicates, among other things, that a fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell an asset or transfer a liability occurs in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. FAS 157 defines fair value based upon an exit price model.

FSP 157-1 amends FAS 157 to exclude FAS 13 and its related interpretive accounting pronouncements that address leasing transactions, while FSP 157-2 delays the effective date of the application of FAS 157 to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a nonrecurring basis.

In October 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS No. 157-3, "Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the Market for That Asset is not Active". The FSP clarifies the application of FAS 157 when the market for a financial asset is not active. The FSP was effective upon issuance, including reporting for prior periods for which financial statements have not been issued. The adoption of the FSP for reporting as of September 30, 2008 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Valuation Hierarchy

FAS 157 establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of the inputs to valuation used to measure fair value. This hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three broad levels as follows. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly through market corroboration, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs based on the Company's own assumptions used to measure assets and liabilities at fair value. A financial asset or liability's classification within the hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

The following table provides the assets and liabilities carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2008:

	Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2008			
	Total Carrying Value at December 31, 2008	Quoted prices in active markets (Level 1)	Significant other observable inputs (Level 2)	Significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)
Cash equivalents (money market funds)	\$ 23,683,454	\$ 23,683,454	\$ -	\$ -
Total	\$ 23,683,454	\$ 23,683,454	\$ -	\$ -

Cash equivalents are measured at fair value using quoted market prices and are classified within Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy. The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and debt approximate their fair value due to their short maturities. There were no changes in the valuation techniques during the year ended December 31, 2008.

Note 14. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Obligations. The Company has entered into operating leases related to roof rights, cellular towers, office space, and equipment leases under various non-cancelable agreements expiring through March 2019. As of December 31, 2008, total future lease commitments were as follows:

Year Ending December 31,		
2009	\$	
2010		2,216,882
2011		1,849,228
2012		1,638,641
2013		919,391
Thereafter	_	965,497
	\$	9,890,663

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 totaled approximately \$2,055,000 and \$1,276,000, respectively.

In March 2007, the Company entered into a lease agreement for its corporate offices (the "Original Space"). In August 2007, the Company signed a lease amendment adding approximately 25,000 square feet (the "Additional Space") and extending the lease term. The new lease term commenced in October 2007 and terminates six years from the date of commencement with an option to renew for an additional five-year term. The Company's annual rent payments totaled approximately \$527,000 in 2008 and will remain at that level through February 2010, before increasing to approximately \$558,000 through May 2012, and approximately \$590,000 through the end of the lease.

The landlord provided the Company with certain incentives as an inducement to enter the lease agreements. These incentives included (i) an allowance of \$163,330 for leasehold improvements on the Original Space, (ii) an allowance of \$200,000 for leasehold improvements on the Additional Space, and (iii) an initial six-month rent-free period on half of the Additional Space. Leasehold improvements funded by the landlord have been (i) capitalized and are being amortized over the remaining lease term and (ii) recognized as deferred rent and amortized over the term of the lease. The economic value of the rent-free period is being amortized ratably over the term of the lease.

Other Commitments and Contingencies. One of the purchase agreements related to FCC licenses includes contingent payments of up to \$375,000, depending on the status of the license with the FCC, and whether the Company has obtained approval to broadcast terrestrially in the 3650 to 3700 MHz band. The contingent payments include a \$100,000 cash payment (due in May 2009) and the issuance of common stock with a value of \$275,000 (due in May 2011).

Table of Contents

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None

Item 9A(T). Controls and Procedures.

Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the issuer's management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based upon our evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective, as of December 31, 2008, in ensuring that material information that we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2008 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, a company's principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by a company's board of directors, management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

- pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;
- provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and
- provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment, our management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2008, our internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

Table of Contents

This annual report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management's report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only management's report in this annual report.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this item will be set forth in the proxy statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later then 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report on Form 10-K, and is incorporated by reference from our proxy statement.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item will be set forth in the proxy statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later then 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report on Form 10-K, and is incorporated by reference from our proxy statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this item will be set forth in the proxy statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later then 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report on Form 10-K, and is incorporated by reference from our proxy statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this item will be set forth in the proxy statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later then 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report on Form 10-K, and is incorporated by reference from our proxy statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this item will be set forth in the proxy statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later then 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report on Form 10-K, and is incorporated by reference from our proxy statement.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

Exhibit No.	Description
2.1	Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganization, dated January 12, 2007, by and among University Girls Calendar, Ltd., Towerstream Acquisition, Inc. and Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on
3.1	Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 19, 2007). Certificate of Incorporation of University Girls Calendar, Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of University Girls Calendar, Ltd. filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 5, 2007).
3.2	Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of University Girls Calendar, Ltd., changing the Company's name to Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 19, 2007).
3.3	By-Laws of Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 19, 2007).
3.4	Amendment No. 1 to the By-Laws of Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 30, 2007).
10.1*	Towerstream Corporation 2007 Equity Compensation Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 19, 2007).
10.2*	Form of 2007 Equity Compensation Plan Incentive Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 19, 2007).
10.3*	Form of 2007 Equity Compensation Plan Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 19, 2007).
10.4	Form of Directors and Officers Indemnification Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 19, 2007).
10.5*	Towerstream Corporation 2007 Incentive Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (File No. 333-142032) of Towerstream Corporation initially filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 11, 2007).
10.6	Form of Placement Agent Agreement for June 2007 Offering (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (333-142032) of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 11, 2007).
10.7	Form of Subscription Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (333-142032) of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 11, 2007).
10.8**	Employment Agreement, dated December 21, 2007, between Towerstream Corporation and Jeffrey M. Thompson (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 31, 2007).
10.9	Office Lease Agreement dated March 21, 2007 between Tech 2, 3, & 4 LLC (Landlord) and Towerstream Corporation (Tenant).
10.10	First Amendment to Office Lease dated August 8, 2007, amending Office Lease Agreement dated March, 21 2007.
21.1	List of Subsidiaries.
23.1	Consent of Marcum & Kliegman LLP
31.1	Section 302 Certification of Principal Executive Officer
31.2	Section 302 Certification of Principal Financial Officer
32.1	Section 906 Certification of Principal Executive Officer
32.2	Section 906 Certification of Principal Financial Officer

^{*} Management compensatory plan ** Management contract

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION

Date: March 18, 2009 By: /s/ Jeffrey M. Thompso

/s/ Jeffrey M. Thompson
Jeffrey M. Thompson

President and Chief Executive Officer

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name	Capacity	Date
/s/ Jeffrey M. Thompson Jeffrey M. Thompson	Director and Chief Executive Officer (President and Principal Executive Officer)	March 18, 2009
/s/ Joseph P. Hernon Joseph P. Hernon	Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)	March 18, 2009
/s/ Philip Urso Philip Urso	Director - Chairman of the Board of Directors	March 18, 2009
/s/ Howard L. Haronian, M.D. Howard L. Haronian, M.D.	Director	March 18, 2009
/s/ William J. Bush William J. Bush	Director	March 18, 2009
/s/ Paul Koehler Paul Koehler	Director	March 18, 2009
	50	

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.	Description
2.1	Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganization, dated January 12, 2007, by and among University Girls Calendar, Ltd.,
	Towerstream Acquisition, Inc. and Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on
	Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 19, 2007).
3.1	Certificate of Incorporation of University Girls Calendar, Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on
	Form 8-K of University Girls Calendar, Ltd. filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 5, 2007).
3.2	Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of University Girls Calendar, Ltd., changing the Company's name to
	Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream
	Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 19, 2007).
3.3	By-Laws of Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of
	Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 19, 2007).
3.4	Amendment No. 1 to the By-Laws of Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on
	Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 30, 2007).
10.1*	Towerstream Corporation 2007 Equity Compensation Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on
	Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 19, 2007).
10.2*	Form of 2007 Equity Compensation Plan Incentive Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the
	Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
40.01	January 19, 2007).
10.3*	Form of 2007 Equity Compensation Plan Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to
	the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
10.4	January 19, 2007).
10.4	Form of Directors and Officers Indemnification Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Current Report on
10.5*	Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 19, 2007). Towerstream Corporation 2007 Incentive Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registration Statement on
10.5	Form SB-2 (File No. 333-142032) of Towerstream Corporation initially filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
	April 11, 2007).
10.6	Form of Placement Agent Agreement for June 2007 Offering (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registration
10.0	Statement on Form SB-2 (333-142032) of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April
	11, 2007).
10.7	Form of Subscription Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (333-
	142032) of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 11, 2007).
10.8**	Employment Agreement, dated December 21, 2007, between Towerstream Corporation and Jeffrey M. Thompson (Incorporated
	by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities and
	Exchange Commission on December 31, 2007).
10.9	Office Lease Agreement dated March 21, 2007 between Tech 2, 3, & 4 LLC (Landlord) and Towerstream Corporation (Tenant).
10.10	First Amendment to Office Lease dated August 8, 2007, amending Office Lease Agreement dated March, 21 2007.
21.1	List of Subsidiaries.
23.1	Consent of Marcum & Kliegman LLP
31.1	Section 302 Certification of Principal Executive Officer
31.2	Section 302 Certification of Principal Financial Officer
32.1	Section 906 Certification of Principal Executive Officer
32.2	Section 906 Certification of Principal Financial Officer

^{*} Management compensatory plan ** Management contract

FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE

This First Amendment to Lease (this "Amendment") is made as of the 8th day of August, 2007, by and between BROOKWOOD MIDDLETOWN TECH, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, successor in interest to TECH PLAZA 2, 3 & 4, LLC, a Rhode Island limited liability company (the "Landlord") and TOWERSTREAM I, INC., f/k/a TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Tenant"), in the following circumstances:

- A. Landlord and Tenant are parties to the Lease dated March 21, 2007 (the "Lease") for the lease of 17,137 rentable square feet of space in the building located in the Tech 2 Plaza Office Building located at 55 Hammarlund Way, Middletown, Rhode Island, and as further described in the Lease (the "Phase I, II and III Premises"). The parties acknowledge that they are in Phase II of the Lease and that the Phase II Commencement Date and the Phase II Rent Commencement Date have passed.
- B. Tenant has requested that Landlord modify certain of the terms and conditions of the Lease, to expand the premises leased from Landlord to include approximately 25,000 rentable square feet of space in the building located in the Tech 4 Plaza Office Building located at 88 Silva Lane, Middletown, Rhode Island (the "Expansion Premises"), and to allow Tenant to extend the term of the Lease, and Landlord has agreed to modify such terms and conditions, but only upon the terms and conditions set forth below.

NOW, THEREFORE, the undersigned, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, hereby agree as follows:

- 1. The definition of "Premises" contained in Section 1.3 of the Lease is hereby amended to include the Expansion Premises, which Expansion Premises is shown on Exhibit A attached hereto. If the Expansion Premises Commencement Date (as hereinafter defined) occurs during Phase II of the Lease, the definition of Premises Rentable Area during Phase II contained in Section 1.3 of the Lease is hereby amended to be 37,874 rentable square feet. If the Expansion Premises Commencement Date (as hereinafter defined) occurs during Phase III of the Lease, the definition of Premises Rentable Area during Phase IIII contained in Section 1.3 of the Lease is hereby amended to be 42,137 rentable square feet. Exhibit A to this Amendment is hereby incorporated by reference into the Lease. All references in the Lease to the Premises shall mean the Premises as increased by the Expansion Premises. All references in the Lease to the "Building" shall mean the Tech 2 Office Building, as it applies to the Phase I, II and III Premises, and the Tech 4 Office Building as it applies to the Expansion Premises. The Expansion Premises are being leased in AS IS condition, without warranty or representation by Landlord. Tenant's access to and improvements to the Expansion Premises shall be subject to the terms of the Lease.
- 2. The definition of "Building Rentable Area" contained in <u>Section 1.3</u> of the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and the following definition of "Building Rentable Area" is hereby substituted therefore and inserted in place thereof:

"Building Rentable Area:

Tech 2 Plaza Office Building: 44,404 rentable square feet, as measured in accordance with BOMA. Tech 4 Plaza Office Building: 151,924 rentable square feet, as measured in accordance with BOMA"

3. The definition of "Escalation Factor" contained in <u>Section 1.3</u> of the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and the following definition of "Escalation Factor" is hereby substituted therefore and inserted in place thereof:

"Escalation Factor Phase I, II and III Premises: During Phase I the Escalation Factor or "Proportionate Share" shall be 13.07%. During Phase II the Escalation Factor or "Proportionate Share" shall be 28.99%. During Phase III, the Escalation Factor or "Proportionate Share" shall be 38.59%.

Escalation Factor Expansion Premises: The Escalation Factor or "Proportionate Share" for the Expansion Premises shall be 16.46%."

4. The definition of "Basic Rent" contained in <u>Section 1.3</u> of the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and the following definition of "Basic Rent" is hereby substituted therefore and inserted in place thereof:

"	Phase I	
	Annual Rent Monthly Re	Per ent RSF
Month 1 through May 12, 2007	\$ 72,550.00 \$ 6,045	5.83 \$ 12.50
	Phase II	
	Annual Rent Monthly Re	Per ent RSF
May 13, 2007 through Phase III Commencement Date	\$ 160,925.00 \$ 13,410	0.42 \$ 12.50
	Phase III	
	Phase III Annual Rent Monthly Re	Per ent RSF
Phase III Commencement Date Through February 28, 2010		ent RSF
	Annual Rent Monthly Re	ent RSF 1.04 \$ 12.50

Expansion Premises (in addition to Phase II or Phase III Basic Rent as applicable)

	Per Annual Rent Monthly Rent RSF
Expansion Premises Commencement Date through February 28, 2010	\$ 312,500.00 \$ 26,041.67 \$ 12.50
March 1, 2010 through May 12, 2012	\$ 331,250.00 \$ 27,604.17 \$ 13.25
May 13, 2012 through Termination Date"	\$ 350,000.00 \$ 29,166.67 \$ 14.00

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Basic Rent due from Tenant under the Lease for the Expansion Premises shall not be due and payable on 12,500 rentable square feet of the Expansion Premises (the "Free Rent Premises") for a six (6) month period (the "Free Rent Period"), so that the Basic Rent due from Tenant under the Lease shall be reduced for such six (6) month period by the amount of \$156,250.00 (12,500 rentable square feet at \$12.50 per square foot), beginning with the month beginning as of the Expansion Commencement Date and continuing for five (5) additional months thereafter.

- 5. Tenant shall have, as appurtenant to the Premises and during the Term of this Lease, the right to use any and all furniture, including but not limited to cubicles and desks, within the Expansion Premises. Landlord makes no representations or warranties regarding the condition of such furniture, and such right to use such furniture is granted in as is condition, where is, with all faults. Any and all furniture that tenant elects to use will become the personal property of tenant and shall be subject to Section 5.6 of the Lease.
- 6. The definition of "Security Deposit" contained in <u>Section 1.3</u> of the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and the following definition of "Security Deposit" is hereby substituted therefore and inserted in place thereof:
 - "Security Deposit: As follows: \$105,351.05"
- 7. The definition of "Commencement Date" contained in <u>Section 4.1</u> of the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and the following definition of "Commencement Date" is hereby substituted therefore and inserted in place thereof:

- "Commencement Date: The Commencement Date of this Lease is March 1, 2007. The Phase II Commencement Date is May 13, 2007. The Phase III Commencement Date shall be the first to occur of the following: (i) the day following the date Landlord delivers the Phase III Premises to Tenant with Landlord's Work (as defined in Section 5.5 of the Lease) substantially completed; or (ii) the date on which Tenant occupies all or any part of the Phase III Premises for the conduct of Tenant's normal business operations; or (iii) the Expansion Premises Commencement Date (as hereinafter defined). The Expansion Premises Commencement Date is the earlier of (i) the date on which Tenant occupies all or any part of the Expansion Premises for the conduct of Tenant's normal business operations, or (ii) October 1, 2007. Landlord and Tenant each hereby agree to execute and deliver a Memorandum of Lease confirming the Phase III Commencement Date and the Expansion Premises Commencement Date once such dates are determined."
- 8. The definition of "Term of this Lease" contained in <u>Section 1.3</u> of the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and the following definition of "Term of this Lease" is hereby substituted therefore and inserted in place thereof:
 - "Term of this Lease: Term of this Lease shall be for the period from the Commencement Date through the Expansion Premises Date plus six (6) years, expiring, unless sooner terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Lease, at 11:59 p.m. on the day immediately preceding the sixth (6 th) anniversary of the Expansion Premises Commencement Date ("Termination Date"). Tenant has an option to extend this Lease for one five-year term as set forth below."
 - 9. The following terms are herein defined and added and inserted into Section 1.3 of the Lease and made a part thereof:
 - "Base Taxes: for purposes of <u>Section 8.1 of</u> the Lease, the term "Base Taxes" shall be the amount of Taxes incurred by Landlord for the Calendar Year 2006 for The Phase I, II and III Premises and the Calendar Year 2007 for the Expansion Premises.

Base Operating Expenses: for purposes of <u>Section 9.1</u> of the Lease, the term "Base Operating Expenses" shall be the amount of Operating Expenses incurred by Landlord in Calendar Year 2007.

Base Utility Expenses: for purposes of <u>Section 9.2</u> of the Lease, the term "Base Utility Expenses" shall be the amount of Utility Expenses incurred by Landlord in Calendar Year 2007."

10. Landlord and Landlord's Address (for rent payment) in <u>Section 1.2</u> of the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and the following is hereby substituted therefore and inserted in place thereof:

"Landlord: Landlord's Address (for rent payment): Brookwood Middletown Tech, LLC Brookwood Middletown Tech, LLC 50 Dunham Road Beverly, MA 01915"

11. The last clause in <u>Section 9.2(a)</u> of the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and the following is hereby substituted therefore and inserted in place thereof:

"provided, however, that Operating Expenses for purposes of this calculation, will not include the portion of Operating Expenses under the sole control of the Landlord ("Controllable Operating Expenses"), if any, that represent a cumulative increase of more than 5% per annum over the level of Controllable Operating Expenses in the Base Year (Calendar 2007), as adjusted for the extrapolation referenced herein to account for changes in occupancy."

- 12. Tenant shall be entitled to a tenant improvement allowance for the Expansion Premises of \$10.00 per rentable square foot, or \$250,000.00, towards the cost of any improvements to the Expansion Premises (the "Expansion Allowance"). Any and all costs for improvements to the Expansion Premises which exceed the Expansion Allowance shall be paid for by Tenant. Tenant shall not be entitled to payment of that portion of the Expansion Allowance that is attributable to the Free Rent Premises until the Free Rent Period has expired. Up to \$50,000 of the Expansion Allowance may be allocated by Tenant to work in Tenant's leased space in the Tech Plaza 2 Office Building. All tenant improvements ("Expansion Tenant Improvements") will be completed in accordance with the Tenant Work Letter attached hereto as Exhibit B.
- 13. Section 16.17 of the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and the following Section 16.17 inserted in place thereof and substituted therefor:

"SECURITY DEPOSIT. Security Deposit shall be \$105,351.05."

Such Security Deposit shall be due and payable as of the date of execution of this Amendment.

- 14. Upon reasonable notice, Tenant shall provide to the occupants of the Tech 2 Plaza Office Building access to the loading dock within the Premises.
- 15. Except as otherwise defined herein or as capitalized in ordinary usage, all capitalized terms used herein shall have the same meaning as set forth for such terms in the Lease.
- 16. Except as expressly provided herein all of the terms provisions and conditions of the Lease herein shall remain in full force and effect. In the event that any of the provisions of the Lease are inconsistent with this Amendment or the state of facts contemplated hereby, the provisions of this Amendment shall control.

- 17. The terms and conditions of this Amendment shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of Landlord and Tenant and their respective successors and assigns.
- 18. Tenant shall have the same rights afforded to it by and obligations contained in Section 5.9 of the Lease at the Expansion Premises as it does at the Phase I, II and III Premises. Specifically, Tenant may install up to four (4) 10 inch non-penetrating dish antennae and four (4) 24-inch non-penetrating dish antennae on the roof of the Expansion Premises. These antennae are in addition to the antennae installed at the Phase I, II and III Premises.

[Signature page follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have duly executed this Amendment as of the date first above written.

LANDLORD:

BROOKWOOD MIDDLETOWN TECH, LLC

By: Brookwood Real Estate Partners II, LLC its sole member

By:Brookwood Real Estate Co., II, LLC its Manager

By: /s/ Eve M. Trilla

Eve M. Trilla

Chief Financial Officer

TENANT:

TOWERSTREAM I, INC.

By: /s/ George E. Kilguss III

George E. Kilguss III Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT A

The Expansion Premises

EXHIBIT B

Tenant Work Letter

It is agreed that Tenant will complete all improvements in accordance with the following terms:

Tenant Improvements. Tenant shall be responsible for the design and construction of all improvements to the Expansion Premises ("Expansion Tenant Improvements"). Tenant shall submit tenant improvement plans to Landlord for Landlord's review no later than ten (10) days from the date hereof. The Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans shall be designed and detailed so that the Expansion Tenant Improvements will comply with applicable laws and building codes. Within seven (7) days after Landlord's receipt of the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans, Landlord shall either approve the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans (with Landlord's approval not to be unreasonably withheld) or disapprove the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans. Any disapproval shall include a detailed explanation of the rejected components of the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans. If Landlord fails to respond in the established timeframe, the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans shall be deemed to be approved by Landlord. If Landlord disapproves the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans, tenant may submit a revised version of the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans to Landlord for its review in the same manner described above. Tenant may continue such approval procedure until Landlord's approval of the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans is obtained or is deemed obtained. Once the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans have been approved by Landlord, Tenant shall submit the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans to the appropriate governmental agency(ies) for the necessary permits to construct the Expansion Tenant Improvements. Any nonmaterial change to the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans required by a governmental agency shall be deemed approved by Landlord. Tenant shall submit any material changes to the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans required by a governmental agency to Landlord for its review in the manner described above, except that the timeframe in such event shall be five (5) business days. Once the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans are approved (or deemed approved) by Landlord and Tenant has obtained the necessary construction permits, Tenant shall retain a reputable licensed and insured contractor(s), of Tenant's choice but subject to Landlord's prior written approval, not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed, to perform the construction of the Expansion Tenant Improvements. Such construction shall be performed in substantial compliance with the approved Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans. Tenant shall have the Expansion Tenant Improvements constructed in a professional, workmanlike manner.

- Payment of Expansion Allowance. Landlord shall pay to Tenant the Expansion Allowance in accordance with the terms hereof. The Expansion Allowance shall be used to pay for costs associated with Tenant's design and construction of the Expansion Tenant Improvements, which costs may include, but shall not be limited to: (a) all costs charged to Tenant by contractors, subcontractors and suppliers for construction of the Expansion Tenant Improvements and installation of Tenant's equipment; (b) fees, assessments and costs associated with securing approvals, permits and licenses; (c) costs of construction insurance (including, without limitation, casualty, liability, theft and workers' compensation insurance); (d) utility hook-up fees; (e) premiums for any bonds required by Tenant; (f) architectural, design and engineering fees related to the Tenant Improvements; and (g) construction management fees incurred by Landlord for supervision of the Expansion Improvements. The Expansion Allowance shall not be used towards the purchase of any items of personal property. Landlord shall pay the amount of the Expansion Allowance in progress payments (payable no more frequently than monthly) after the date Tenant obtains a building permit covering construction of the Expansion Tenant Improvements. Such progress payments shall be made by Landlord not later than ten (10) days after receipt by Landlord from Tenant of copies of invoices evidencing completed work and/or services provided. Each invoice shall be accompanied by a written statement verifying that the work evidenced by such invoice has been completed, and/or that services evidenced by such invoice have been performed; such verification shall be rendered by Tenant's architect, except that with regard to costs, fees and assessments not charged by contractors, subcontractors, or suppliers, such verification may be rendered by Tenant's Representative, George Kilguss, III. Further, each invoice shall be accompanied by a conditional construction lien waiver, pertaining to such invoiced work, from the general contractor and each subcontractor, laborer or materialman, and by an unconditional construction lien waiver, pertaining to previous work for which payment has already been made, from the general contractor and each subcontractor, laborer or materialman. Completion of the Expansion Tenant Improvements will be confirmed upon Landlord's receipt of a Certificate of Completion for the Expansion Premises issued by the Town of Middletown Building Inspector and delivered to Landlord by Tenant. Landlord shall have no obligation to make any progress payment while an uncured default in the Lease is continuing and the total of all such progress payments will in no event exceed the amount of the Expansion Allowance. To the extent Expansion Tenant Improvements have been paid for by the Expansion Allowance, such Expansion Tenant Improvements shall be deemed at all times to be Landlord's property.
- 3. As Is. Except for the work described in this Work Letter, Tenant accepts the Expansion Premises in its "as is" condition.
- 4. Defined Terms. All terms herein used shall have the same meaning as when used in the Lease and this First Amendment to Lease.

SUBSIDIARIES OF TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION

The following is a list of subsidiaries of Towerstream (Corporation as of December 31,	2008, omitting some subside	diaries which, considered in th
aggregate, would not constitute a significant subsidiary:			

Subsidiary	Jurisdiction of Organization
Towerstream I, Inc.	Delaware

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM'S CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Towerstream Corporation on Form S-3 (File No. 333-141405) and on Form S-8 (File No. 333-151306) of our report dated March 16, 2009, with respect to our audits of the consolidated financial statements of Towerstream Corporation as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 and for the years then ended which report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Towerstream Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2008.

/s/ Marcum & Kliegman, LLP New York, New York March 16, 2009

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeffrey M. Thompson, certify that:

- (1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Towerstream Corporation for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008;
- (2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- (3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- (4) The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d) Disclosed in the report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of the annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
- (5) The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
 and
 - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 18, 2009

/s/ Jeffrey M. Thompson

Jeffrey M. Thompson President and Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Joseph P. Hernon, certify that:

- (1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Towerstream Corporation for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008;
- (2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- (3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- (4) The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d) Disclosed in the report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of the annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
- (5) The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 18, 2009

/s/ Joseph P. Hernon
Joseph P. Hernon

Chief Financial Officer

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S. C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Towerstream Corporation, (the "Company") on Form 10-K for year ended December 31, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Jeffrey M. Thompson, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 18, 2009

/s/ Jeffrey M. Thompson

Jeffrey M. Thompson President and Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Towerstream Corporation, (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Joseph P. Hernon, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 18, 2009

/s/ Joseph P. Hernon

Joseph P. Hernon Chief Financial Officer